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Witanwisdom

“Money – the one 
thing that keeps 
us in touch with 
our children.”
Gyles Brandreth

Investment trusts are public limited companies, quoted on the London Stock Exchange, which provide shareholders with a professionally managed
portfolio of investments. Investment trusts are exempt from tax on the capital gains arising on their investments. Income, net of expenses and tax,
is distributed substantially to shareholders. Shareholders elect the directors.
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Objective

To be the first choice for wealth creation through equity investment.

Philosophy

◆ Seek returns for our investors across global stockmarkets.

◆ Embrace new investment techniques when appropriate.

◆ Present ourselves to investors in a clear, no-nonsense way.

Method

◆ To maintain at least 80% exposure to equity markets.

◆ To offer an independent multi-manager approach, accessing the best available talent within the global

marketplace.

◆ To use alternative asset classes and investment techniques to improve performance.

◆ To grow the dividend at least in line with inflation.

◆ To buy back shares to improve net asset value and reduce the discount.

◆ To be ready to use borrowing in attractive markets while retaining the ability to convert to cash when

prospects are poor. 

◆ To promote and seek demand for Witan shares.

◆ To exercise strict controls on costs and keep expenses competitive.
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Directors

H M Henderson*◆

(Age 55) Appointed
a director in 1988,
Harry Henderson became
Chairman in March 2003.
He was formerly a partner
of Cazenove & Co. and
subsequently a senior
executive at Cazenove
Group plc, retiring in 2002.
Mr Henderson is Chairman
of Witan Investment
Services Limited. He is also
a director of Cadogan
Settled Estates Limited.

A W Jones*◆ MA, FREng,
FRAeS, FIEE, CIM
(Age 68) Alan Jones was
appointed a director in
1996 and became
Chairman of the
Remuneration Committee
on its formation in
December 2003. He was
formerly Chief Executive of
BICC plc. He is Chairman
of The Manchester Airport
Group plc and is a director
of Agustawestland NV. He
is a former member of The
Financial Reporting
Council.

R A Bruce*● MA, MBA
(Age 58) Andrew Bruce
was appointed a director
in 2002. He is Group
Credit Risk Director at
Barclays PLC where he has
responsibility for asset
quality and credit risk
across the Barclays Group. 
He is also a non-executive
director of Clearstream
International.

A Watson*● BSc (Econ),
ASIP, Barrister-at-Law, 
FSI (Hon)
(Age 62) Tony Watson was
appointed a director in
February 2006. He was
appointed Senior
Independent Director on
5 February 2008. He
retired in January 2006
after an executive career of
38 years in the investment
management industry.
Most recently he was Chief
Executive of Hermes
Pensions Management
Limited. Mr Watson was
formerly Managing
Director of AMP Asset
Management plc. He is a
non-executive director of
Hammerson plc and of
Vodafone Group Plc and
Chairman of the Trustees of
the Marks & Spencer
Pension Scheme and of
Strategic Investment Board
Limited (Northern Ireland).
He is a member of the
Financial Reporting Council.

J E B Bevan* MA
(Age 47) James Bevan was
appointed a director on
1 February 2007. He is
CIO, CCLA Investment
Management. Before
joining CCLA in November
2006, he was the Chief
Investment Officer at
Abbey. Prior to Abbey, he
was Chief Investment
Officer for Barclays
Stockbrokers and Barclays
Personal Investment
Management, having
joined BZW in 1988,
following postgraduate
research in applied
economics and asset
allocation at Cambridge
University.

R W Boyle*● MA, FCA 
(Age 60) Robert Boyle 
was appointed a director 
on 1 February 2007. He 
qualified as a Chartered 
Accountant with 
Coopers & Lybrand and 
retired in 2006 from 
PricewaterhouseCoopers
LLP. He was Chairman of the
PwC European
Entertainment & Media
Industry practice for
12 years. He has been a
non-executive director and
chairman of the audit
committee of Maxis
Communications Berhad.
He is a non-executive
director of Prosperity
Voskhod Fund Limited, an
AIM company, and is the
independent member of the
audit committee of the
National Trust.

J Horsburgh
(Age 52) Jim Horsburgh
was appointed a director
and Chief Executive Officer
with effect from February
2004. He is responsible for
the overall management of
Witan. He has over 25
years’ experience of
investment management.
He was formerly with
Schroder Investment
Management Limited
where he was UK
Managing Director.
Mr Horsburgh is a director
of Witan Investment
Services Limited.

*Independent non-executive directors.
●Members of the Audit Committee which is chaired by Mr Boyle. 
◆Members of the Remuneration Committee which is chaired by Mr Jones.

R H McGrath*◆

(Age 61) Rory McGrath
was appointed a director in
1996. He was formerly
Chief Executive of
H. Young Holdings plc, 
a marketing company.
Mr McGrath is a director
of Witan Investment
Services Limited.
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Key Performance Indicators

Corporate Key Performance Indicators
31 December 31 December %
2007 2006 change

Net asset value per ordinary share 545.7p 517.1p +5.5

Net asset value per ordinary share (valuing the prior charges at market value)(A) 537.9p 508.4p +5.8

Share price 478.5p 454.5p +5.3

Performance against the overall benchmark:

Net asset value per ordinary share, capital return (see Performance below) +5.5% +10.1%

Benchmark (see Performance below) +5.3% +8.4%

Dividends per ordinary share 9.90p 9.20p +7.6

Discount 12.3% 12.1%

Discount (valuing the prior charges at market value) 11.0% 10.6%

Share buy-backs(B) 14.3% 11.6%

Total expense ratio(C) 0.53% 0.45%

Number of private investors(D) 41,936 42,376 –1.0

(A) See note 18 on page 54.
(B) The percentage of the ordinary share capital in issue at the previous year end that was bought back during the year.
(C) The total of the management fees and other administrative expenses (excluding the expenses of the subsidiary company) as a percentage of the average of

shareholders’ funds at the beginning and end of the year (see note 5 on page 42).
(D) The sum of the number of accounts on the Company’s register of members and the number of accounts in Witan Wealthbuilder and Jump.

Performance
1 year 3 years 5 years

Total returns to 31 December 2007 % return % return % return

Share price(1) 7.5 54.1 108.3

Net asset value per ordinary share(1) 7.1 47.9 95.7

FTSE All-Share Index(1) 5.3 50.1 104.6

FTSE World (ex UK) Index(1) 9.7 44.7 88.3

Capital returns to 31 December 2007

Net asset value per ordinary share 5.5 40.0(1) 75.0(1)

FTSE All-Share Index(1) 2.0 36.3 73.6

FTSE World (ex UK) Index(1) 7.4 35.9 69.9

Benchmark(2) 5.3 see note 2 below see note 2 below

(1)Source: Datastream.

(2)Since 1 October 2007 the benchmark has been a composite of four indices, all on a capital change only basis: the FTSE All-Share Index
40%, the FTSE All-World North America Index 20%, the FTSE All-World Europe (ex UK) Index 20% and the FTSE All-World Asia Pacific
Index 20%. 

From 1 September 2004 to 30 September 2007 the benchmark comprised the FTSE All-Share Index 50% and the FTSE World (ex UK)
Index 50%, on a capital change only basis. Prior to 1 September 2004 the benchmark comprised the FTSE All-Share Index 60% and the
FTSE World (ex UK) Index 40%, on a capital change only basis.

31 December 31 December %
2007 2006 change

Net assets £1,219,306,000 £1,348,534,000 –9.6

Number of ordinary shares in issue 223,426,499 260,772,887 –14.3

Revenue return per ordinary share 11.08p 10.24p +8.2

Gearing* 4.7% 2.5%

*The total market value of the investments less shareholders’ funds as a percentage of shareholders’ funds.

The Company’s ten year historical record is shown on page 61.

Other Financial Highlights
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Chairman’s Statement

Harry Henderson

“However beautiful the strategy, 
you should occasionally look at 
the results” Sir Winston Churchill

Opening Remarks

There is nothing worse than a smart Alec or indeed

a Board that claims it always gets everything right.

However, in last year’s Business Review, looking to

2007, we highlighted the problem of excess credit,

the high valuation of smaller companies and a

general appetite for risk with the likelihood of more

volatile markets. These themes are today’s headlines

for commentators looking back over the last twelve

months.

Despite having correctly identified some of the

current problems and despite a reasonable increase

from major Western equity markets in 2007, I

suspect we all feel somewhat battered. For example,

the global financial sector fell by more than 20%

due to banks writing off more than US$100 billion

related to losses in credit markets. Furthermore, any

security relating to the housing market or to

consumer spending patterns fell in value.

In the US every sector in the S&P 500 Index rose by

more than the market, excluding the Financials and

Consumer Discretionary sectors, with big

companies outperforming smaller ones. Losses have

therefore been specific and explicable, confined to

areas that had been subject to irresponsible leverage

or lending. 

Emerging markets successfully decoupled over the

year, with China and India heading the charge.

Unlike many investors we did not give up on Japan,

where stocks fell. As we all know oil, gold and

agricultural commodities all leapt in price while the

US dollar fell in value against almost all major

currencies.

The devil does take the hindmost but oh to have

had more of what went up and less of that which

performed poorly; but that said, a net asset value

total return of 7.1% was a reasonable outcome. 

Shareholder Returns and Performance

The share price rose over the year by 5.3% which,

combined with the dividends paid during the year,

gives shareholders a 2007 share price total return of

7.5%. Which means that, over the last five years,

Witan shareholders have experienced an annualised

return of 15.8%, some 12.5% more per annum than

the rate of inflation. Witan, with its global equity

portfolio, has done its job. 

In last year’s report I stated that it was important to

look at returns over the long term. We will look at

our hundred year story next year but suffice to say

that, over an economic cycle, Witan has delivered

inflation plus 4%.

For the fifth consecutive year Witan’s net asset value

per share (NAV) (up 5.5%) has risen by more than

the benchmark (up 5.3%), calculated on a capital

change only basis. There is more information on

manager performance on page 14 in the Business

Review section but in general the key points are that

our share buy-back programme, gearing and

overweight positions in Asia (outside of Japan) and

Europe have been positive, while an overweight

position in Japan and underperformance from some

of our managers have been negative contributors.

Strategic Review

Your Board felt that as we approached the third

anniversary of the move to multi-manager it was
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the right time to undertake a strategic review. The

process reinforced the benefits of multi-manager in

that we were able to change that which we felt was

not working for us without a wholesale change in

the investment arrangements of your Company.

Your Board is persuaded by the opportunity presented

by a global investment approach; comparing

companies and their stock market valuations across

borders rather than within a single country, at least

for larger more international companies, seems to be

sensible. The analysis supporting this proposition lay

behind our decision to increase the proportion

managed in this manner by appointing Thomas

White to our third global equities mandate, to

manage 10% of the total portfolio.

The second major change resulting from the review

was to replace the underperforming APS, our Asia

Pacific manager, with a combination of Comgest, to

manage the region excluding Japan and Australasia,

and Orbis, for Australasia by itself.

Unsurprisingly the benchmark and its importance to

you, our shareholders, and to the Board was a source

of considerable debate over the strategic review. On

page 8 we cover this topic in detail and the changes

we have made to our benchmark. At the very least it

must not drive our investment approach but it must

allow you, our shareholders, to understand better

what you might expect from your investment and

for us, the Board, to judge how the Company is

doing. The change in the benchmark, reducing the

proportion represented by the UK, was driven by our

wish to pursue the best global opportunities and to

diversify risk away from the UK.

Another impact of these changes is to reduce Witan’s

exposure to enhanced indexed techniques of fund

management, which have proved to have been very

successful to date, and to increase its exposure to

more active managers. In the industry jargon we have

reduced beta in favour of alpha. This is a deliberate

move by the Board, which believes that returns from

markets themselves are likely to be lower and more

volatile in the future, thereby increasing the

attractiveness of more active management.

Total Expense Ratio

The average global unit trust has a total expense

ratio of 1.63%, which is over three times more

expensive than Witan’s annual ratio of 0.53%. This

means that these alternatives have to continually

outperform Witan by over 1%, each and every year,

just to keep pace. Your Board believes that it is good

practice to keep costs to a minimum without

compromising the effectiveness of Witan’s business

scope and investment engine. 

VAT on Management Fees

As a result of the outcome of various court cases

that have taken place over the last twelve months,

Witan will be able to reclaim some of the VAT it has

paid since 1990. Those monies which the Board

believe Witan is virtually certain to be able to

reclaim have been included in these accounts (see

note 24 on page 55).

Dividend

Your Board has declared a second interim dividend

of 5.8 pence per ordinary share, to make a total

distribution for the year of 9.9 pence (2006: 9.2

pence). This represents an increase of 7.6%, which

is in line with our stated policy of paying an annual

dividend at least in line with inflation indicators.

Share Buy-Backs

During 2007 your Company repurchased 37.3

million shares for cancellation. This amounted to

14.3% of the Trust’s capital at the start of the year.
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In turn these buy-backs enhanced Witan’s NAV by

around 1.4%. Your Board believes that buying in

its own shares at a discount is clearly helpful to

investors. This process is managed in accordance

with Witan’s commitment to buy back shares with

a view to keeping the discount at 10% or below in

fair value terms.

Witan Investment Services (WIS)

Witan’s subsidiary company, WIS, is a FSA

registered entity responsible for the marketing of

the Witan brand and the promotion of its saving

schemes to investors. WIS also provides similar

services to Witan Pacific Investment Trust plc and

acts as Executive Manager for that Trust. WIS’s

corporate aim is to create demand for Witan shares

and to do so profitably. The company was true to

this aim during 2007 and it provided a healthy

revenue stream which mitigated costs normally

incurred by its parent. Your Board intends to

maximise WIS’s potential as a contributor to

Witan’s overall return through the provision of new

products and services, as appropriate. However,

such activities must always present a tangible

benefit for Witan’s shareholders.

Outlook

There are a number of questions that need to be

answered as one addresses the economic outlook

for 2008. Firstly, will the US be able to avoid a

recession?  Secondly, how well will the other

economies be able to cope if the US goes into

recession?  Thirdly, if the US economy does have a

recession, how deep will it be?  Lastly, how long

will the credit crisis be an issue?

It was a year ago that the former Fed chairman, Alan

Greenspan, thought that the risk of a US recession

was 1 in 3. I am afraid that it is now odds-on

favourite but, as a result, further rate cuts have been

made and a fiscal stimulus to the economy has taken

place. This will obviously help but is likely to come

too late to avoid some sort of slowdown;

nevertheless, it looks as if it may be not too severe.

In the past a downturn in the US has led to

weakness across the globe and, as the US

continues to be the largest economy, a serious

slowdown will also be felt elsewhere. However,

the Asian economies are now in a far better

position to cope with a US slowdown. So, given

the favourable long term growth perspective for

these emerging economies, corrections in their

equity markets should provide long term buying

opportunities.

The question concerning the length of the credit

crisis is perhaps the most difficult, as we are

somewhat in uncharted waters, but our best guess is

that the worst should be behind us by some time in

the second half of the year. 

In summary, we feel there will be a relatively mild

US recession which will have less of an impact on

the emerging economies of the world than in the

past. The credit crisis has some more bad news to

throw at us but we hope the end is not too far

away. Equity markets are likely to be more volatile

but, if we are right about the depth of the US

recession, this will present Witan with good

money-making opportunities, given the current

attractiveness of corporate valuations.  

AGM

Our AGM will be held at Merchant Taylors’ Hall on

Monday 28 April 2008 at 2.30 pm. Formal notice of

the meeting is set out on pages 56 to 60 and further

details are given on the enclosed invitation card.

With my fellow directors, I look forward to the

opportunity to meet you then for what will actually

be the Company’s 100th AGM. 

Harry Henderson 

6 March 2008

Chairman’s Statement
continued
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The review which follows is designed to provide

shareholders with information about your Company’s

business and results in 2007. All of the matters

historically dealt with in the Chief Executive’s Report are

now included in this review which covers the following:

– Objectives and strategy

– Management arrangements

– The Witan benchmark

– Portfolio review

– Manager review process

– Buy-back policy

– Witan Investment Services

– Principal risks

– Key performance indicators

– Your Board’s priorities for 2008

– Outlook

Witan’s Objectives and Strategy

Witan’s objective is to be the first choice for wealth

creation through equity investment. From an

investment perspective, this means that Witan will seek

to outperform global stockmarkets consistently, adding

value in the long term for its investors. In addition

Witan must encourage new investors to buy the Trust’s

shares in order to provide ongoing liquidity for

shareholders. These are two clear and simple strategic

aims and the Witan approach to each is described

below.

Witan aims to outperform by using a multi-manager

best of breed investment structure. Your Board aims to

control risk in line with investor expectation, but will

be prepared to enhance performance by employing

innovative investment techniques and diverse asset

classes if and when these are appropriate. As an

investment trust, Witan can borrow in order to improve

performance in rising markets. Furthermore Witan is

committed to growing its dividend at least in line with

the rate of inflation.

Your Board places great importance on the need to

provide constant liquidity in Witan’s shares to the

market place. Shareholders must be allowed to sell at a

price that reflects prevailing market value while

potential investors

must have easy

access to the

Trust’s equity.

Central to the

provision of

liquidity is the

proactive

management of

Witan’s discount

in terms of level and volatility. Your Company buys

back its own shares when they stand at a substantial

discount. This both provides liquidity and enhances the

net asset value of the Trust. In addition, Witan

implements an ongoing marketing programme

designed to stimulate demand for and encourage new

investment into the Trust’s shares. This programme

reaches out to both the private and professional

investor.

In everything Witan’s aim is to provide the best

possible return to shareholders. With this in mind, your

Board applies strict controls to costs and only

undertakes expenditure where necessary.

Management Arrangements

The management of Witan’s assets is almost entirely

outsourced to third parties. The Company maintains a

small executive team of five full-time employees,

including the Chief Executive, to manage and control

these outsourced relationships, to run Witan

Investment Services and to advise the Board on

investment and business strategy.

In addition, in December 2006, the Board chose Mellon

Capital Management Corporation, one of the world’s

leading currency managers, to manage an active

currency portfolio. This has been achieved by investing

in a UBS loan note, the returns from which will mirror

Mellon’s currency performance after fees. Currency risk

is inherent in your Company’s portfolio as a result of its

international investments. However, by teaming up

with Mellon, Witan are looking to exploit this risk to

enhance returns.

Business Review

“He got the hi-fi, she got the record.”
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Business Review
continued

During the year the Board made some changes to the

investment manager line-up. Following a formal review,

APS were removed and replaced by a combination of

Comgest and Orbis. In addition, Thomas White – a third

global manager – was appointed. Their portfolio was

funded by a reduction in the size of, primarily, the UK

mainstream and North America portfolios.

Your Company has also appointed third parties for the

various supporting services it requires. The most

important of these are BNP Paribas Securities Services

SA for global custody, BNP Paribas Fund Services UK

Limited for investment accounting and

administration, Henderson Global Investors for

company secretarial services and Equiniti Limited as

Witan Wealthbuilder plan administrator. From time to

time, and as required, Witan also buys in services for

legal, compliance, investment consulting, financial

and tax advice.

Although multi-manager arrangements can prove

expensive, Witan’s careful cost control has resulted in a

total expense ratio of 0.53%, one of the lowest in the

investment trust industry and much lower than any

multi-manager unit trust. This, in turn, has allowed

Witan to continue paying rising dividends. 

The Witan Benchmark

Your Company’s benchmark is a quantitative

representation of what shareholders can expect in the

long term from an investment in Witan both in terms of

the underlying investment structure of the portfolio and

performance. It enables the aims of your Company to be

encapsulated succinctly without the need for a detailed

description. It is an equity benchmark, although your

Board reserves the right to invest in other assets if it

deems it to be appropriate, for better performance or

capital preservation. Similarly, the benchmark does not

drive either portfolio distribution or mandate allocation,

as can be seen from the table above showing the

investment management arrangements, but it does

provide a marker for the long term performance of the

Company. Over shorter periods, performance can be

expected to vary, sometimes considerably, from that of

the benchmark. 

From 1 October 2007 the Company’s benchmark

changed from 50% FTSE All-Share Index; 50% FTSE

The table below shows the current equity investment management arrangements:

INVESTMENT BENCHMARK INVESTMENT 

EQUITY MANDATE MANAGER (TOTAL RETURN) STYLE

UK mainstream equities Henderson Global Investors FTSE 350 (ex investment Enhanced index

companies)

UK smaller companies Henderson Global Investors Hoare Govett Smaller Growth at an attractive 

Companies (ex investment price

companies)

Global Southeastern Asset Management FTSE All-World Quality at a 

discounted valuation

Global MFS International FTSE All-World Growth at an attractive

price

Global Thomas White International FTSE All-World Fundamental valuation

techniques

Continental Europe Wellington Management Company FTSE World Europe (ex UK) Fundamental research 

North America Henderson Global Investors FTSE World North America Enhanced index

Japan Brandes Investment Partners FTSE Japan Value

Far East Comgest FTSE All-World Asia (ex Fundamental 

Japan/Australia/New Zealand) research

Australasia Orbis Investment Management FTSE Australia Value
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World (ex UK) Index to 40% FTSE All-Share Index;

20% FTSE All-World North America Index; 20% FTSE

All-World Europe (ex UK) Index; 20% FTSE All-World

Asia Pacific Index. This change recognises that the

world economy in GDP terms is increasingly split into

three trading areas: the Americas, Europe, and Asia

Pacific and, within these regions, a large proportion of

trade flows are internal. The Board feels an equal

weighting of all three areas in the Trust’s benchmark

gives a fairer representation of the Company’s

proposition to its investors and ultimately will offer a

truer gauge of its long term performance. The new

benchmark allocates a greater weighting to the Asia

Pacific region, an area which your Board expects to

outperform in the long term.

Portfolio Review

2007 was another good year for equity investors, albeit

one of rising volatility particularly in the second half of

the year. Over the year world markets, as measured by

the FTSE World (ex UK) Index in sterling terms, returned

9.7%. The star performers were the Emerging Markets,

particularly Brazil and India, which returned in excess of

70%. The worst performing markets were Ireland

(-17.2%) and Japan (-6.4%). The UK equity market, as

measured by the FTSE All-Share Index, returned 5.3%.

Currencies had much less of an impact on returns than

in 2006, although the major currencies were just as

volatile. The strength of the Euro was the main feature,

enhancing returns from Europe (ex UK) to the sterling

investor by 8.3% to 15.7%.

Over the last five years equity markets have performed

exceptionally well with the UK returning 15.4% per

annum and the rest of the world 13.5%. This represents

an above average rate of progress albeit from a low

starting point. What has been remarkable throughout

this period, until the last few months, has been the lack

of volatility in markets. That, at least, appears to be

changing as the sub-prime crisis, and its after-effects,

have increased investors’ sensitivity to risk.

Witan’s shareholders also saw good returns with a total

return from holding the shares during the year of 7.5%.

Witan’s net asset

value rose by 5.5%

over the year,

0.2% ahead of the

benchmark.

Positive

contributions to

this came from

buying back shares

at a discount to

net asset value, the Board’s gearing policy, and the

overweight allocation to Europe and Asia (outside

Japan) in the first nine months of the year. (As noted

above, the Board amended the Trust’s benchmark from

October, raising the weighting in both of these regions.

This made the benchmark much harder to beat in the

final quarter of the year.) Henderson’s UK smaller

companies and North America teams, Brandes and the

new managers, Thomas White, Comgest and Orbis (in

the final quarter), all contributed positively towards

performance. The overweighting of Japan and the

underperformance of Wellington, Southeastern, MFS,

Mellon, our currency manager, and APS (in the first half

of the year) detracted from the relative return.

The geographical breakdown of the portfolio is laid out

on page 18. This reflects the strategic asset allocation of

the Board, coupled with the stock selection of our

three global managers who seek to find the most

attractive stocks they can irrespective of geography.

Page 18 also shows the breakdown of the portfolio by

industrial sector and page 19 lists the fifty largest

equity holdings in the portfolio. These holdings

represent almost 40% of the portfolio by value and will

be the main drivers of Witan’s performance going

forward. Whilst, as a result of the Company’s chosen

management structure, this list inevitably includes

many of the UK’s largest companies, holdings such as

Liberty Media, Philips Electronics, Fairfax Financial and

Japan Petroleum Exploration underline the global and

stock specific nature of Witan’s portfolio, as do the

tables overleaf which show Witan’s largest stock

positions relative to its benchmark. A full list of

Witan’s holdings can be found on the website

www.witan.com.
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Below is a more detailed review of the portfolio by

strategic segment.

UK

The UK portfolio is managed in two parts: the UK

mainstream portfolio is managed by the Henderson UK

enhanced index team and provides Witan with a

relatively low risk exposure to the UK’s largest

companies; the UK smaller companies portfolio is

actively managed by the Henderson smaller companies

team. This combination gives Witan a strategically

overweight position in smaller companies, an area

which tends to outperform in the long term.

The UK mainstream portfolio was marginally behind its

benchmark in 2007 (see table on page 14). This was

disappointing because over the first three quarters of the

year performance was positive. The underperformance

in the final quarter was not a direct result of the credit

crisis but arose from its secondary effects. Henderson

was attracted into cyclical stocks because of their cheap

valuations and continued good profitability. This was

too early a move as the stock market started to

anticipate an economic slowdown. This bad news was

partially offset by being overweight larger companies

relative to smaller ones. When risk aversion increased in

markets, large capitalisation stocks started to

outperform. During the year holdings in Compass

Catering, Aggreko (which rents out large power

generators among other things), First Group and Arriva

(bus and rail companies) all added to performance as did

takeovers for Hanson Building Materials and ICI. 

After four consecutive years of strong upward progress,

2007 proved to be a difficult period for UK smaller

companies. The Hoare Govett Smaller Companies Index

(ex investment companies) gave a negative return of

8.3%, compared to a positive return of 5.3% for the

FTSE All-Share Index. Although the year started brightly,

the US sub-prime crisis and the consequent ‘credit

crunch’ had severe negative consequences for smaller

companies. Investors became increasingly cautious on

the prospect for global economies and corporate

earnings growth. In this environment there was an

unsurprising flight to relative liquidity and the safety of

large companies as noted above. 

Top 10 Overweight Positions at 31 December 2007
Portfolio Weighting

Name Sector minus Benchmark Weighting

DirecTV Consumer Services 1.21
UBS Financials 1.17
Dell Technology 1.15
Nipponkoa Financials 1.03
Walt Disney Consumer Services 0.90
Fairfax Financial Financials 0.89
Japan Petroleum Exploration Oil & Gas 0.84
Philips Electronics Consumer Goods 0.79
KDDI Telecoms 0.73
Cemex Industrials 0.72

Top 10 Underweight Positions at 31 December 2007
Portfolio Weighting

Name Sector minus Benchmark Weighting

BP Oil & Gas -0.47
HSBC Financials -0.46
Telefonica Telecoms -0.40
Vodafone Telecoms -0.40
Banco Santander Financials -0.35
Gazprom Oil & Gas -0.35
General Electric Industrials -0.34
Exxon Mobil Oil & Gas -0.33
Microsoft Technology -0.30
Nokia Technology -0.29

Source of both tables: Style Research.

Business Review
continued
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The Witan smaller companies portfolio fell 5.0% on a

total return basis, outperforming its benchmark by

3.6%. The portfolio had a number of strong winners

including W S Atkins, the consulting engineer,

Wellstream, a manufacturer of flexible pipes for the

offshore oil industry, International Ferro Metals, a

producer of ferro-chrome for the stainless steel market,

and Laird Group, the electronics group. The common

feature of these ‘winners’ was their ability to exceed

market earnings expectations over the year through

strong business momentum. The portfolio also

benefited from a number of take-overs including Gyrus,

a medical equipment manufacturer, Inspicio, an

inspections and testing business, Sondex, an oil services

company, and Umbro, the sportswear group. 

On balance, Henderson remain cautiously optimistic.

They say: “Much depends on whether the authorities,

through monetary easing, can stop the negative

sentiment and the lack of banking liquidity from

becoming a self-fulfilling recession. We remain hopeful

that the worst fears will not arise and believe that

valuations are compelling in most circumstances.

Pockets of value are also starting to appear in smaller

companies even though corporate profitability will be

under pressure in 2008”. 

Global

We have three global managers: Southeastern, MFS and

Thomas White, who were appointed in September

2007. At the end of 2007 they had £190.2 million,

£131.2 million and £127.9 million, respectively, under

management for Witan. Southeastern might be loosely

described as a ‘value’ manager, although they will

invest in growth companies, for example eBay,

provided they understand the business dynamics and

the price can be justified by their exacting valuation

criteria. MFS is classified as a ‘growth’ manager but will

only invest in growth at the right price. Thomas White

are different again. They apply the appraisal technique

that they believe is most appropriate to that individual

company, industry sector, or country. This body of

valuation knowledge has been refined over decades.

They then invest in the most attractive companies

arising from this process. All of these managers are

stock pickers and, as a result, will see their performance

deviate from

indices for long

periods of time. It

is only in the long

term that their

performance can

be judged and by

that measure all

have superb

records.

Southeastern’s performance in 2007 at 6.4% was below

par, both in terms of how they measure themselves –

inflation plus 10% – and our benchmark of the FTSE

All-World Index which returned 10.8%. They say: “It is

important to differentiate between the portfolio’s short

term stock price performance and the value of the

businesses in the portfolio”. The volatility in markets in

the second half of 2007 provided Southeastern with

plenty of opportunities. During the year they sold five

holdings whose share prices approached their appraisal

value: Comcast, Discovery Holdings, Nikko Cordial, a

Japanese stockbroker, Olympus and Spirit, a telecom

company; and purchased five new securities: eBay,

Japan Petroleum Exploration, Limited Brands, an

American retailer, Nikko Cordial and UBS, which was

purchased after UBS had disclosed an exposure to the

credit crisis. This represents an unusually high level of

turnover for Southeastern who typically own only

seventeen to twenty stocks in their portfolio.

Southeastern comment: “Some may wonder how we

can be buying companies enthusiastically when so

much uncertainty exists. While we may appear stupid

in the short run, our long term horizon and that of our

clients gives us the luxury to act based on how business

will look several years from now, not based on whether

fear will grip markets next quarter. In the businesses we

are buying, we believe short term fears are more than

reflected in the stock prices”.

MFS underperformed the FTSE All-World Index in the

twelve months to the end of 2007 by 1.5%. Performance

suffered from being underweight in the energy sector

which appreciated significantly in 2007, helped by

record high oil prices. Investments in Harley Davidson,

which suffered from the challenging consumer
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environment in the US, Bridgestone, the Japanese tyre

manufacturer, and Canon also detracted from

performance. On the positive side, being underweight in

financial services and investments in relatively defensive

companies, such as Nestlé, Reckitt Benckiser, the

household cleaning products company, and E.ON,

Germany’s largest utility, all benefited performance.

MFS say: “We remain focused on high-quality companies

with sustainable above average growth and returns,

whose prospects are not reflected in their valuation. The

stocks which satisfy our investment criteria continue to

be concentrated in the less cyclical areas of the market,

with above-average returns and below-average debt levels”.

Thomas White, in their first quarter of management for

Witan, outperformed the benchmark by 2.6%.

Performance in the fourth quarter of 2007 was led by

companies based in Canada, Latin America, and the

Pacific Rim. These regions were heavily influenced by

their commodity and energy-related companies.

Petrobras (Brazil, +53.2%) Potash Corp. (Canada, +40.7%)

and Rio Tinto Ltd (Australia, +25.8%) were the top

performers in the portfolio. Other top gainers included

the Deutsche Börse (Germany, +49.4%), Monsanto (US,

+34.2%) and MTR Corporation (Hong Kong, +27.3%).

On the outlook for 2008 Thomas White comments: “In

early January 2008, global market declines have been

fostered by fear and uncertainty stemming from the

credit crisis. This crisis has extended its reach to all

corners of the globe. We believe volatility will remain in

the short run as the results of these credit issues are

absorbed by the markets. A major positive for the

markets is that equity valuations begin from reasonable

levels, with price earnings ratios near 30 year lows.

Positives in 2008 will include capital goods demand

from emerging market countries and strength in exports

encouraged by a weak dollar. US consumer spending will

continue to be negatively impacted by tightening

credit”.

North America

The North America portion of the portfolio

outperformed its benchmark by 1.1% in 2007. During

the year your Company’s direct holdings were swapped

for a holding in the Henderson North America OEIC

which pursues an identical policy. This was done at no

effective cost to the Trust and Henderson’s remuneration

remains unchanged. The portfolio’s exposure to

companies that benefited from increased global

infrastructure spending was a significant positive, as

were holdings in Crocs, a maker of fashionable shoes,

Equity Office Properties and Cablevision. On the other

hand, for most of the year being overweight large

companies relative to small held back performance.

Henderson comment: “Looking forward, the uncertain

investment landscape we face for 2008 offers us plenty

of opportunity to continue the positive momentum of

2007. In many ways, such an environment is ideal for

our approach with abundant mispricings and market

inefficiencies, so we are confident that we can continue

to add value to the portfolio in the future”. 

Europe (ex UK) 

In 2007 the Witan Europe (ex UK) portfolio

underperformed its benchmark by 7.7%. This continued

the trend seen since Wellington’s appointment. As a

result, during the year the Board undertook a formal

review of Wellington which resulted in the manager

being retained (see page 14). In recent years, according

to Wellington, European markets have been trend-

following with in-favour areas outperforming while

other areas were dismissed. This, they say, has been

working against the relative performance of the

portfolio as the relative price of stocks did not always

follow the relative earnings of the companies, leading to

anomalous valuations. In contrast to the market,

Wellington have been finding more opportunities in

those areas that have been less popular. They believe the

new, less certain, economic environment could lead to a

change in the market’s focus. Recent evidence of a

change comes, on the one hand, from the resurrection

in telecoms, an area that was once shunned by the

market and where Wellington were buying, and, on the

other hand, from recent falls in industrials, an area that

was loved by the market but where they found few

opportunities. The portfolio benefited during the year

from being underweight in energy. On the other hand,

the holding in UBS suffered from fallout of the US sub-
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prime crisis and BMW underperformed as new models

failed to excite.

Looking to 2008, Wellington say: “Among more

cyclically-exposed companies, we have to be aware of

the greater risk to earnings from possible US and UK

recessions. Our preference for those stocks where

valuations and expectations are already low should

finally stand us in good stead here. In financials, for

example, while banks are facing liquidity issues,

slowing growth, de-leveraging and forced capital

raisings, the insurance sector has already seen this story

played through during the post-bubble decline of 2000-

2003, and is now in a much better balance sheet and

sustainable earnings position, yet relative performance

has barely differed thus far. This to us is an opportunity,

as it is with other stocks where expectations remain low

– such as BMW, Peugeot, Safran (the French

aeronautical and technology company), TNT (the

Dutch parcel delivery and courier company), Rhodia (a

French chemical company) and Infineon (a German

technology company)”.

Japan

The Japanese equity market portfolio, managed by

Brandes, outperformed its benchmark by 1.5%. The

portfolio benefited most from advancing share prices

among holdings in the electronic equipment and

instruments industry. Within this industry, positions

such as Hitachi and TDK Corporation were among the

top performers. On the other hand, falls among

holdings in consumer finance and in commercial

banking industries weighed on the overall results,

particularly Promise Company and ACOM Co

(consumer finance), and Mitsubishi UFJ Financial

Group and Mizuho Financial Group (commercial

banks).

Brandes are taking advantage of the current market

volatility to purchase companies in industries such as

commercial banking and diversified financial services.

“We have found that, in difficult times, stock prices

tend to exaggerate the prevailing uncertainty.

Opportunities are created where individual stock prices

fall below a rational assessment of the business worth.

Examples of these new buys include Sumitomo Mitsui

Financial and

Aozora bank. We

have also found

value in

companies in the

construction and

engineering

industry, where

purchases

included Obayashi

Corporation and Okumura Corporation. We

acknowledge that it can be difficult to assess the exact

impact of adverse economic events. Fortunately, our

fundamental bottom-up investment process does not

revolve around making bold forecasts or exact

prognostications.”

Asia Pacific (excluding Japan)

As was reported at the interim stage, APS, whose

performance continued to disappoint (-4.5% relative for

the first six months of 2007) were replaced by a

combination of Comgest for Asia (ex Japan and

Australasia) and Orbis for Australasia.

For the five months since end July 2007, Comgest

outperformed their benchmark by 0.7%. This was

primarily due to particularly good performance during

the sharp correction in Asian markets at the end of the

year. Comgest, whilst expecting Asian markets to

remain volatile this year, remain confident that the

companies in their portfolios which tend to benefit

from barriers to entry such as trademarks, patents,

innovative products or know-how, will continue to

prosper. They remain overweight in large capitalisation

growth stocks and service companies linked to the

energy and raw material industries. 

Orbis also outperformed their benchmark in the first

five months since their appointment (by 4.1%), again

primarily due to very good performance at the end of

the year. This was partially due to having little exposure

to heavily geared property and infrastructure funds

which fell by up to 80%. Orbis remain cautious about

the general level of company earnings and are therefore

focusing on those sectors and shares where profits are

sustainable and margins are not high relative to history. 
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Currency Manager

During 2007 the investment linked to the Mellon

Currency Fund fell by 20.1%. This is equivalent to

underperforming its benchmark on a £350 million

currency portfolio by 2.7% – a disappointing result,

although one which was within the range of expected

outcomes. Mellon’s performance was hurt by being

underweight the Norwegian krone and Australian

dollar, two currencies which it continues to regards as

being very overvalued. This underperformance was

partially offset by overweight positions in the New

Zealand dollar and UK pound. Mellon comment: “We

have been asked if global changes, such as the

mortgage-related liquidity crisis and the rise of

emerging markets, could be negatively impacting our

strategy. We believe that although the world is

constantly changing, investment fundamentals and our

relative value mean reversion methodology is timeless.

Our approach has been tested by the Asian currency

crisis, the dot-com boom and bust, 11 September, and

more. We have historically taken positions ahead of

anticipated changes in the market, which has

sometimes caused disappointing short term

performance before valuations correct. However, our

strategy has consistently delivered attractive returns to

patient investors. It has been said that the four most

dangerous words in investing are ‘it’s different this

time’. We believe it is not different this time and

investors in our strategy will continue to be well

rewarded over three to five year time frames”.

Manager Review Process

During 2007, as in previous years, the Board reviewed

both Witan’s benchmark and the investment

management structure to ensure that they were still

appropriate for your Company’s objectives. This was not

Performance
for the year ended 31 December 2007 and from inception to 31 December 2007

Investment Manager Value of % of Witan’s Performance Benchmark Performance Benchmark
Funds under Assets under in the period Performance in the period Performance
Management Management 31.12.06 to 31.12.06 to since inception since inception 
£m at 31.12.07 at 31.12.07* 31.12.07 (%) 31.12.07 (%) to 31.12.07 (%) to 31.12.07 (%)

(annualised) (annualised)

Henderson Global Investors (UK mainstream) 403.7 31.5 +5.6 +5.8 +15.7 (A) +15.6 (A)

Henderson Global Investors (UK smaller) 56.1 4.4 -5.0 -8.3 +17.7 (A) +16.4 (A)

Southeastern Asset Management (Global) 190.2 14.8 +6.4 +10.8 +10.9 (A) +14.9 (A)

MFS International (Global) 131.2 10.3 +9.1 +10.8 +14.8 (A) +14.9 (A)

Thomas White (Global) 127.9 10.0 not applicable +3.0 (C) +0.9 (C)

Wellington Management Company (Europe) 118.4 9.3 +6.8 +15.7 +16.2 (A) +22.2 (A)

Henderson Global Investors (USA) 79.0 6.2 +6.8 +5.6 +9.8 (A) +9.2 (A)

Brandes Investment Partners (Japan) 73.5 5.7 -5.0 -6.4 +5.6 (A) +8.2 (A)

Comgest (Far East) 76.3 6.0 not applicable +16.5 (B) +15.7 (B)

Orbis (Australasia) 23.1 1.8 not applicable +15.3 (B) +10.8 (B)

*excluding cash balances held centrally by Witan and the unquoted investments. (A) from 30.09.04. (B) from 31.07.07. (C) from 28.09.07.
Source: The WM Company.  

“In recruiting these managers we were looking for firms that had a strong

investment philosophy..., that had a clear, rigorous and disciplined investment

process... and for firms that had a long-term record of outperformance.”
extract from the CEO’s Review 2004
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just a geographic review, but also considered other asset

types as well as the proportion of return expected to be

generated by markets (beta) and manager skill (alpha).

This review led to the appointment of a third global

equity manager and the splitting of the Asia (ex Japan)

portfolio into an Australasian component and an ex-

Australasian component. 

In addition, the Board met with the investment

managers on 15 occasions. At these meetings the

managers were asked, among other things, to:

– explain their choice of investments, which enabled

the Board to check that these were within Witan

guidelines and in accordance with the manager’s own

investment philosophies; 

– provide a detailed analysis of their performance to

date and the reasons behind it; 

– report on any significant changes to the organisation;

and

– re-affirm their investment strategy and philosophy.

The Board judges that it is, as noted in last year’s

report and accounts, now appropriate to make this

formal review process applicable to all the managers,

even if there is no dissatisfaction with the manager.

This will involve an assessment of what each of the

investment managers has achieved for Witan since

their appointment and what the alternatives might be.

Only a foolish fund manager would believe that he

owns all of the most attractive shares – he/she should

always be searching for something better whilst

recognising that ultimately this may prove to be a

fruitless task. Similarly, Witan is always on the look-

out for the best fund managers, irrespective of

speciality, as this may give a guide to a better way of

structuring the entire portfolio. Within each speciality

your Company is also trying to recruit the best fund

managers available. However, we also need to accept

the role that luck (both good and bad) plays in fund

management, so should try to avoid appointing fund

managers who have just had a lucky run or replacing

those who have been unlucky. Furthermore, the Board

must remain cognisant of the not inconsiderable cost

of changing investment managers. The Board intends

to subject all of

the existing

managers to a

peer group review

on at least a

rolling three year

basis.

Among many

matters these

reviews will address the following questions:

– Why did we appoint the manager?

– Excluding performance, have they done what we

expected?

– Is performance out of line with the manager’s own

historical experience?

– If so, is there a good reason for this?

– Do we still believe in them?

– Are there attractive alternative managers available?

There will, however, be no presumption on what the

outcome of these reviews might be.

Buy-Back Policy

Your Board believes that it is in shareholders’ interests

to buy back the Company’s shares when they are

standing at a substantial discount to net asset value.

Any purchase of shares at a discount to their net asset

value will increase that net asset value and will support

an increase in the Company’s share price, all other

things being equal.

In 2007 the Company bought back and cancelled a

total of 37,346,388 of its ordinary shares at a cost of

£181.6 million, including stamp duty. The result of this

in terms of performance enhancement was to add just

under 1.4% to the net asset value per share at

31 December 2007. 

Witan Investment Services (WIS)

Witan Investment Services Limited is a wholly owned

subsidiary of Witan Investment Trust plc. It was

established in March 2005 and has been regulated by

the FSA since April 2006. 
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WIS has two discernible channels of income by which its

performance and profitability may be judged. These are,

firstly, revenues from transaction fees and annual

management charges relating to its savings plan business

and, secondly, executive management and marketing

fees paid by its corporate clients, Witan Investment Trust

plc, Witan Pacific Investment Trust plc and Tribune UK

Tracker plc, the last named until it merged with

Edinburgh UK Tracker Trust plc in September 2007 when

it ceased to be a client.

The platform which provides savings plans to Witan

Investment Services clients is called Witan

Wealthbuilder. It currently has over 30,000 customers

with assets of some £220 million invested. Ongoing

success will be indicated by growth in these figures. The

major cost incurred by Witan Investment Services is its

fee to Equiniti Limited, the administrators of the Witan

Wealthbuilder platform. WIS is intended to be a profit

centre in its own right and the company contributed

positively to the consolidated results of Witan

Investment Trust plc during 2007. 

Witan Investment Services’ aim is to stimulate demand

for Witan shares and to do so profitably. It has three

key objectives:

– to provide a revenue stream exceeding the costs

normally incurred by its parent, Witan Investment

Trust plc;

– its activity must have a tangible benefit for Witan

shareholders; and

– to develop profitable new products within Witan that

may create demand for Witan shares. 

In line with the last objective, at its ‘away day’ in

June 2007, the Witan Investment Services Board

agreed to develop a Jump Child Trust Fund product

to sit beside its successful Jump savings plan. This

new product will be launched in the first quarter of

2008.

Principal Risks

Because Witan is essentially a vehicle for UK and

overseas equity investment, your Board is unlikely, in

normal conditions, to allow the invested level to drop

below 80%. The prime risk, therefore, of investing in

Witan, remains a fall in equity prices. The other generic

risks associated with any international equity portfolio

are those of strategy and of country, currency, industrial

sector, and stock selection. There are also risks

associated with the choice of managers. Your Board

seeks to manage these risks through the appropriate

application of gearing, liquidity, and asset allocation

policies and by monitoring the stock selection activities

of your managers. Moreover, the adverse effects of a

failure, however defined, by an individual investment

manager are reduced significantly by the multi-manager

structure. Further, your Board reviews regularly the

competency of the fund managers.

In addition, your Company also faces the risk that its

objective and strategy become inappropriate in a

rapidly changing financial services and savings market.

This is a matter which is reviewed regularly by the

Witan and the Witan Investment Services Boards. These

reviews focus on investment policies, the role of

marketing and the Witan Wealthbuilder savings

schemes, and discount control policies, as well as wider

industry trends.

Finally, there are operational and regulatory risks, and

the unavoidable risks of errors and omissions. These are

regularly and extensively reviewed by Witan’s Audit

Committee. Witan Investment Services and its

marketing activities are also regulated by the Financial

Services Authority and the subsidiary is subject to its

own operating rules and regulations. Your Board takes

its regulatory responsibilities very seriously and reviews

the main points of compliance against requirements on

a quarterly basis. Your Board also takes professional

legal, accounting, and tax advice in advance if there is

the slightest doubt concerning any proposed activity of

your Company. Operationally, the multi-manager

structure is a fairly robust one as each of the fund

managers, custodians and fund accountants keep their

own records which are reconciled on a monthly basis.

In addition, the Witan executive monitors the activities

of all third parties and escalates any issues to the Board.

Comprehensive contractual obligations and
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indemnification provisions have been put in place with

each of the third party services providers.

Key Performance Indicators

Your Board assesses its performance in meeting the

Company’s objective against the following key

performance indicators:

– net asset value return

– share price return

– performance against Witan’s overall benchmark

– annual dividend growth

– discount to net asset value

– the level of buy back activity

– total expense ratio

– growth in the number of private investors.

In addition, the Board reviews both absolute and relative

volatility and risk statistics for the portfolio. The

Company’s staff are appraised on a regular basis and the

Board evaluates employee performance. Witan’s

performance in 2007 against these indicators is shown

on page 3 and is discussed in the Chairman’s Statement. 

Your Board’s Priorities for 2008

Every year your Board has an ‘away day’ which sets its

priorities for the next twelve months. In May 2007, the

Board agreed to review your Company’s benchmark to

reflect the changing investment environment; to

reconsider the investment management arrangements

with a view to increasing the proportion allocated to

active managers; and to consider alternative Asia (ex

Japan) and Europe managers. During the course of the

remainder of 2007, a new benchmark was established

and announced; a new global manager was appointed;

the proportion of the portfolio allocated to lower

tracking error strategies in the UK and US was reduced

by 11% and APS was replaced by a combination of

Comgest and Orbis. During 2008, your Board will

continue to review your existing managers and to seek

out opportunities to improve performance. It is

currently considering whether there might be a role for

another active manager in the UK. It will also be

looking to develop

further Witan

Investment

Services. In the

near term, as noted

above, it expects to

launch a Child

Trust Fund (CTF)

product under its

Jump brand. 

Outlook

Whilst it is always difficult to predict the future for

markets, it does seem reasonable to suggest on this

occasion that at the current time prospects are more

uncertain than usual. The amount of credit in the

world is enormous and has been growing inexorably for

the last twenty years; but that is about to come to a halt

as a result of the credit crisis, which started in the sub-

prime home loans market in the US, spreading more

widely. How far this will go and its impact on the real

economy are difficult to quantify. A slowdown, and

perhaps even a recession, in the US and elsewhere

seems inevitable. Whilst it would be easy to extrapolate

this to some sort of Armageddon scenario, we should

recognise that central banks, the US in particular, are

taking decisive action by reducing interest rates and

governments are looking to see what fiscal stimuli they

can deliver. Once the pain in the banking sector is

thought to be out in the open, it is likely that investors

around the world will start to look for the relative

winners. If our managers’ stockpicking skills are as good

as we believe then we would expect Witan shareholders

to benefit from this process. 

By order of the Board

G S Rice 

For and on behalf of

Henderson Secretarial Services Limited,

Secretary

6 March 2008
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United North Continental South Total
Kingdom America Europe Japan Far East America Africa 2007

% % % % % % % %

Basic Materials Chemicals 0.4 0.4 1.0 0.3 – – – 2.1
Forestry & Paper 0.1 – – – – – – 0.1
Industrial Metals – 0.1 0.2 – 0.2 0.1 0.1 0.7
Mining 3.3 – – – 0.2 – – 3.5

3.8 0.5 1.2 0.3 0.4 0.1 0.1 6.4

Consumer Goods Automobiles & Parts – 0.8 0.5 0.8 – – – 2.1
Beverages 1.0 0.1 0.2 – – – – 1.3
Food Producers 0.7 0.2 0.9 0.1 – – – 1.9
Household Goods 0.9 0.2 0.4 0.2 0.5 – – 2.2
Leisure Goods – – 0.9 0.2 – – – 1.1
Personal Goods 0.1 0.3 0.4 0.3 – – – 1.1
Tobacco 0.8 0.1 0.1 0.1 – – – 1.1

3.5 1.7 3.4 1.7 0.5 – – 10.8

Consumer Services Food & Drug Retailers 1.0 0.1 – 0.2 – – – 1.3
General Retailers 0.7 1.2 0.2 0.1 0.2 – – 2.4
Media 1.5 3.8 0.3 0.4 – – – 6.0
Travel & Leisure 1.6 0.2 0.1 – 0.7 – – 2.6

4.8 5.3 0.6 0.7 0.9 – – 12.3

Financials Banks 4.1 1.1 2.5 1.1 0.4 0.1 – 9.3
General Financial 1.0 0.9 0.4 0.7 0.6 – – 3.6
Life Assurance 1.6 0.1 0.5 – – – – 2.2
Nonlife Insurance 0.4 2.5 1.1 1.8 0.4 – – 6.2
Real Estate 0.8 – – – 1.0 – – 1.8
Open-ended funds – 6.3 – – 1.9 – – 8.2

7.9 10.9 4.5 3.6 4.3 0.1 – 31.3

Health Care Health Care Equipment & Services 0.3 0.4 0.1 – – – – 0.8
Pharmaceuticals & Biotechnology 1.9 0.4 1.2 0.8 0.1 – – 4.4

2.2 0.8 1.3 0.8 0.1 – – 5.2

Industrials Aerospace & Defence 0.9 0.3 0.2 – – – – 1.4
Construction & Materials 0.3 0.1 0.2 0.5 0.4 0.7 – 2.2
Electronic & Electrical Equipment 0.5 0.1 0.7 0.2 0.2 – – 1.7
General Industrials 0.3 0.3 – 0.1 0.2 – 0.1 1.0
Industrial Engineering 0.3 0.1 0.1 0.1 0.1 – – 0.7
Industrial Transportation 0.1 0.2 0.3 0.1 – – – 0.7
Support Services 2.2 0.2 0.1 0.1 – – – 2.6

4.6 1.3 1.6 1.1 0.9 0.7 0.1 10.3

Oil & Gas Oil & Gas Producers 3.8 0.7 2.9 1.0 0.2 0.1 – 8.7
Oil Equipment Services 

& Distribution 0.3 0.1 0.1 – 0.4 – – 0.9

4.1 0.8 3.0 1.0 0.6 0.1 – 9.6

Technology Software & Computer Services 0.5 0.3 0.4 – – – – 1.2
Technology Hardware 

& Equipment 0.1 1.7 0.3 0.7 0.3 – – 3.1

0.6 2.0 0.7 0.7 0.3 – – 4.3

Telecommunications Fixed Line Telecommunications 0.4 0.1 1.3 0.3 0.8 – – 2.9
Mobile Telecommunications 1.6 0.2 – 0.8 0.5 0.1 – 3.2

2.0 0.3 1.3 1.1 1.3 0.1 – 6.1

Utilities Electricity 0.5 0.1 – 0.1 0.8 – – 1.5
Gas Water & Multiutilities 0.8 – 0.9 – 0.4 0.1 – 2.2

1.3 0.1 0.9 0.1 1.2 0.1 – 3.7

Totals 2007 34.8 23.7 18.5 11.1 10.5 1.2 0.2 100.0

Totals 2006 44.8 22.5 16.7 8.5 6.6 0.9 – 100.0

Classification of Investments
at 31 December 2007

Notes:

1. Unquoted investments, options and futures are not included in this classification.

2. There were no fixed interest holdings (2006: none).
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Market value
of holding
£ million Country Description

1 Royal Dutch Shell 29.5 UK Oil and gas producer 

2 BP 22.8 UK Oil and gas producer

3 Vodafone 19.2 UK Telecommunications

4 HSBC 18.7 UK Bank

5 UBS 18.1 Switzerland Bank

6 Liberty Media 17.6 USA Media

7 GlaxoSmithKline 16.2 UK Pharmaceuticals

8 DirecTV 15.8 USA Media

9 Dell 15.4 USA Technology

10 Nipponkoa Insurance 13.4 Japan Insurance

11 Walt Disney 12.3 USA Leisure and media 

12 Rio Tinto 11.9 UK Mining

13 Philips Electronics 11.8 Netherlands Technology

14 Fairfax Financial 11.5 Canada Insurance

15 Total 11.3 France Oil and gas producer

16 Japan Petroleum Exploration 10.9 Japan Oil and gas producer

17 Unilever 10.5 UK Consumer products

18 KDDI 10.3 Japan Communications

19 Cheung Kong 10.2 Hong Kong Construction, property and ports

20 Anglo American 9.7 UK Resources

21 Cemex 9.2 Mexico Cement and concrete producer 

22 eBay 8.7 USA Internet

23 Willis 8.7 USA Insurance

24 Royal Bank of Scotland 8.7 UK Bank

25 BG 8.4 UK Gas producer

26 Tesco 8.2 UK Food retailer

27 General Motors  8.2 USA Automotive

28 BHP Billiton 8.0 USA Resources

29 Everest Re 7.3 USA Insurance

30 Diageo 7.0 UK Beverages

31 E.ON 6.6 Germany Utility

32 Barclays 6.4 UK Bank

33 Sompo Japan Insurance 6.4 Japan Insurance

34 AstraZeneca 6.3 UK Pharmaceuticals

35 British American Tobacco 5.9 UK Tobacco products

36 Xstrata 5.8 UK Resources

37 France Telecom 5.8 France Telecommunications

38 AXA 5.7 France Insurance

39 Standard Chartered 5.7 UK Bank

40 Reckitt Benckiser 5.6 UK Personal care and household products

41 HBOS 5.4 UK Bank

42 Prudential 5.3 UK Insurance

43 Lloyds TSB 5.2 UK Bank

44 Sanofi-Aventis 5.1 France Chemicals

45 Samsung Fire & Marine 5.0 Korea Insurance

46 Singapore Telecommunications 4.9 Singapore Telecommunications

47 Hyundai Development 4.9 Korea Engineering and construction

48 Nestlé 4.8 Switzerland Food and consumer products

49 China Mobile 4.5 China Telecommunications

50 BT 4.4 UK Telecommunications

These investments total £489.2 million and represent 38.3% of the total investment portfolio at 31 December 2007. The descriptions
shown do not necessarily correspond with the categories shown in the Classification of Investments on page 18. The full portfolio is not
listed because it contains over 700 companies as a result of the investment management arrangements. The above listing is of the largest
individual equity investments and as such excludes the collective investments used to invest in North America, Australasia and currencies.

Fifty Largest Equity Investments
at 31 December 2007
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Directors’ Report

The directors present the audited accounts of the Group and

their report for the year ended 31 December 2007.

Activities and Business Review

A review of the business is given in the Chairman’s Statement on

pages 4 to 6 and in the Business Review on pages 7 to 17.

Status

Witan Investment Trust plc (“the Company”) is incorporated in

England and Wales and domiciled in the United Kingdom. It is

an investment company as defined in section 266 of the

Companies Act 1985 and operates as an investment trust in

accordance with section 842 of the Income and Corporation

Taxes Act 1988. HM Revenue & Customs approval of the

Company’s status as an investment trust has been received in

respect of the year ended 31 December 2006, although approval

for that year may be subject to review should there be any

subsequent enquiry under Corporation Tax Self Assessment. The

Company will continue each year to seek approval as an

investment trust under section 842 of the Taxes Act.

Subsidiary Company

The Company has one subsidiary company, Witan Investment

Services Limited, which provides marketing services to the

Company and executive management and marketing services to

third party investment trust clients. Witan Investment Services

Limited is authorised by the Financial Services Authority to

manage savings schemes for investors.

Investment Policy

Witan’s objective is to be the first choice for wealth creation

through equity investment. This means that Witan will seek to

outperform global stock markets, consistently adding value in the

long term for its investors. Witan invests primarily in global

equities: the minimum equity level is set at 80% of net assets

although in practice, in recent times, it has been over 95%. The

Board actively investigates alternative assets and new investment

techniques and will use them if, in the Board’s view, they provide

the potential to enhance shareholder returns, as evidenced by the

investment in a currency fund in 2006. 

The Company has the power under its Articles of Association to

borrow up to 100% of adjusted total of capital and reserves.

Essentially this allows the Board to seek to improve

performance through gearing by borrowing amounts equivalent

in value to shareholders’ funds. In practice the Board would

not, other than in exceptional circumstances, borrow more than

20%, including the Company’s issues of £144 million of fixed

debt. Over the past five years gearing as defined on page 3 has

varied between 0% and 15%. On occasions, the Company has

held small net cash positions.

The Board’s policy on dividends is to grow the dividend at least

in line with inflation. 

Discount management can also have an impact on shareholder

returns. Shares are bought back when they stand at a significant

discount with the objective, subject to market conditions, of

keeping the discount to net asset value at less than 10%; this

policy has the impact of improving net asset value per share and

bringing the share price closer to that of the net asset value, all

other things being equal. Further, the Board has an active

marketing programme designed to promote and seek demand for

Witan shares.

Investment risk is managed through:

• The selection of different investment managers with different

mandates. Details of the managers, their mandates and the value

of funds under management are set out on pages 8 and 14.

• The broad adherence to a global geographic benchmark,

ensuring diversity. Details of major investment sectors and

shareholdings are set out on pages 18 and 19.

• Monitoring of investment manager performance and portfolios.

Investment manager performance against their benchmarks is

set out on page 14.

• Monitoring of asset allocation, currency exposures and gearing

levels.

During the year the Company invested its assets with a view to

spreading investment risk and in accordance with the

investment policy as set out above. In particular it has

maintained a diversified portfolio, of which the analysis on
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page 18 and the commentary in the Business Review on pages 7

to 17 provide illustration. The portfolio has been actively

managed by the investment managers, under the direction of

the Chief Executive Officer. The directors have received regular

reports on investment activity and portfolio construction, both

at and outwith the regular meetings of the Board.

ISAs and PEPs

With effect from 6 April 2008:

• the annual Individual Savings Account (ISA) investment

allowance will be increased to £7,200; and

• all existing PEP accounts will automatically become Stocks and

Shares ISAs and will be subject to ISA rules and regulations.

The Company intends to continue to manage its affairs so that its

investments fully qualify for a stocks and shares component of

an ISA.

Substantial Shareholdings

As at 6 March 2008, the following had notified the Company of

interests in the Company’s voting rights:

%

AXA Investment Managers UK Limited 15.8

Legal & General Group plc 5.2

The above percentages are calculated by applying the shareholdings 

as notified to the Company to the issued ordinary share capital as at 

6 March 2008.

Business Review

The Company is required by the Companies Act to set out in this

report a fair review of the business of the Group during the

financial year ended 31 December 2007 and of the position of the

Group at the end of the year and a description of the principal

risks and uncertainties facing the Group (“business review”). The

information that fulfils the requirements of the business review

can be found within the Business Review on pages 7 to 17.

Assets

At 31 December 2007 the total net assets of the Group were

£1,219.3 million (2006: £1,348.5 million). At this date the net

asset value per ordinary share was 545.7p (2006: 517.1p).

Revenue and Dividend

The profit for the year was £76.0 million, of which £27.1 million

is attributable to revenue (2006: £132.8 million, of which £27.6

million was attributable to revenue). The profit for the year

attributable to revenue has been applied as follows:

Distributed as dividends:
£’000

First interim of 4.10p per ordinary share

(paid on 7 September 2007) 10,024

Second interim of 5.80p per ordinary share

(payable on 3 April 2008) 12,849

Retained earnings 4,264

27,137

The directors have declared a second interim dividend instead of

a final dividend in order to ensure that, as in previous years, the

distribution is made to the shareholders before 5 April. The

Company intends to grow the dividend at least in line with

inflation year on year.

Directors

The current directors of the Company are shown on page 2.

All the directors held office throughout the year under review,

with the exception of Mr Bevan and Mr Boyle who were

appointed directors on 1 February 2007.

Mr R W C Colvill retired from the Board at the conclusion of the

Annual General Meeting on 30 April 2007. 

At the forthcoming Annual General Meeting, Mr Watson and

Mr Bruce will retire by rotation in accordance with the

Company’s Articles of Association. Mr Henderson, Mr Jones and

Mr McGrath will also stand for re-election, having served as

directors for more than nine years. 

The non-executive directors have reviewed their independence

in the context of the Combined Code, as revised in June 2006,

and by reference to the AIC’s Code of Corporate Governance. All

the directors are wholly independent of all the investment

managers. The non-executive directors are of the opinion that

each of them is independent in character and judgement and

that there are no relationships or circumstances that are likely to

affect their judgement.
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Directors’ Report
continued

Mr Henderson was formerly a partner of Cazenove & Co., the firm

which for many years acted as the Company’s stockbroker.

However, he did not have responsibility for or involvement with

Cazenove’s role with the Company, being for many years

responsible for aspects of Cazenove’s fund management division.

Mr Henderson, Mr Jones and Mr McGrath have served on the

Board for more than nine years. Accordingly, they will stand for

election by the shareholders each year for as long as they continue

to serve on the Board. The Board is firmly of the view, however,

that length of service does not of itself impair a director’s ability to

act independently; rather, their longer perspective adds value to

the deliberations of a well-balanced investment trust company

board. The Board considers Mr Henderson, Mr Jones and

Mr McGrath to be independent. Their roles and contributions

will, however, be reviewed rigorously each year.

At the beginning of the year the membership of the Audit

Committee included Mr Colvill (Chairman), Mr Bruce and

Mr Watson. Mr Boyle was appointed to the Audit Committee on

1 February 2007 and became Chairman on 30 April 2007 on the

retirement of Mr Colvill. At the beginning of the year the

membership of the Remuneration Committee included Mr Jones

(Chairman) and Mr Henderson. Mr McGrath was appointed to

the Remuneration Committee on 6 February 2007. Mr McGrath

is the non-executive director who leads on marketing matters

but the Board has decided not to establish a permanent

committee to cover this area of the business.

As noted above, Mr Henderson was formerly a senior executive

at Cazenove and a partner in its predecessor firm. As one of a

number of institutional investors, the Company purchased in

2001 a holding of shares in Cazenove Group plc (“Cazenove”)

(see note 10 (v) on page 45). Subject to this exception, no

director was a party to, or had an interest in, any contract or

arrangement with the Company at any time during the year or

to the date of this report. With the exception of Mr Horsburgh,

no director has a service contract with the Company.

The number of formal meetings during the year of the Board

and its Committees, and the attendance of the individual

directors at those meetings, is shown in the table that follows.

Audit Remuneration

Number of meetings Board Committee Committee

10 4 4

H M Henderson 9 *4 4

J Horsburgh 10 *4 –

R W C Colvill 2 of 3 2 of 2 –

A W Jones 10 – 4

R H McGrath 10 – 4

R A Bruce 9 4 –

A Watson 9 3 –

J E B Bevan 9 – –

R W Boyle 9 4 –

*Not a member of the Committee but in attendance by invitation for
all or part of the meetings.

All the then directors attended the Annual General Meeting in April
and the Board’s ‘away day’ in May.

Directors’ Interests

The interests of the directors in the share capital of the

Company were as follows:

31 December 2007

Ordinary shares: Beneficial Non-Beneficial

H M Henderson 722,732 471,500

J Horsburgh 80,000 –

A W Jones 97,536 –

R H McGrath 27,688 1,006

R A Bruce 3,127 290

A Watson 25,000 –

J E B Bevan – –

R W Boyle 2,978 –

959,061 472,796

1 January 2007

Ordinary shares: Beneficial Non-Beneficial

H M Henderson 722,732 455,000

J Horsburgh 80,000 –

A W Jones 97,536 –

R H McGrath 27,688 754

R A Bruce 3,100 215

A Watson 25,000 –

J E B Bevan* – –

R W Boyle* – –

R W C Colvill† 22,035 36,082

978,091 492,051

*on appointment on 1 February 2007.
†Mr Colvill retired from the Board on 30 April 2007.

Mr McGrath’s non-beneficial interests increased to 1,060 shares as a result

of regular investment through the Jump share plan and Mr Bruce’s non-

beneficial interests increased similarly to 300 shares. No other changes in

the interests of the directors have been notified since the year end. No

director had an interest in the secured bonds, debenture stock or

preference shares of the Company. 
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Directors’ Indemnity

Directors’ and officers’ liability insurance cover is in place in

respect of the directors. The Company’s Articles of Association

provide, subject to the provisions of UK legislation, an

indemnity for directors and officers of the Company in respect

of costs, losses or liabilities which they may incur in the

discharge of their duties or the exercise of their powers,

including any liabilities relating to the defence of any

proceedings brought against them which relate to anything done

or omitted, or alleged to have been done or omitted, by them as

officers or employees of the Company.

Directors’ Fees

The report on the directors’ remuneration is set out on pages 26

and 27.

Corporate Governance

A corporate governance statement is set out on pages 28 to 31.

The report of the Audit Committee is set out on page 32.

Financial Instruments and the Management of Risk

By its nature as an investment trust, the Company is exposed to

market price risk, foreign currency risk, interest rate risk, liquidity

risk and credit risk. The Company’s policies for managing these

risks are outlined in note 14 to the accounts on pages 46 to 52.

Investment Managers

Until 31 August 2004, investment management, UK custodial,

accounting, administrative and company secretarial services were

provided to the Company by Henderson Global Investors

(Holdings) plc and its subsidiaries (“Henderson Global

Investors”) and by BNP Paribas Fund Services UK Limited.

In 2004 the Board reviewed the Company’s asset allocation policy

and agreed to appoint investment managers for eight different

investment mandates. Henderson Global Investors was appointed

to three of the investment mandates and five new investment

managers were appointed in respect of the other five investment

mandates. Investment management agreements were negotiated

and signed in respect of each of the eight investment mandates

and the revised arrangements came into effect on 1 September

2004. One of the investment managers was replaced and an

additional global manager was appointed during 2007. A similar

investment management agreement was put in place for this new

global mandate. Also, in 2006 the Company established an

investment mandate in respect of currency management. This

mandate is structured differently to the others in that it is

invested, via a loan note, in a managed fund. Further, since 2007

two of the other investment mandates have been held through

pooled vehicles. These arrangements are not subject to specific

investment management agreements as they are in effect direct

investments. However, the terms on which these investments

were made are similar to what is described above in respect of the

portfolios of directly held investments. Each of the investment

managers is entitled to a base management fee, calculated

according to the value of the assets under management, and/or

a performance fee, calculated according to investment

performance, over a rolling three year period, relative to the

benchmark applicable to the relevant investment mandate. Each

of the performance fees is subject to a cap, except in respect of the

investments in the fund covering Australasia and the currency

note, and each management agreement can be terminated on one

month’s notice. The base management fee rates range from nil to

0.89 per cent per annum and the performance fees range from nil

to 25 per cent per annum of the relevant outperformance. All the

fees are payable quarterly in arrears. The performance fees are

payable on a pro rata basis, after a minimum initial period of one

year, and after three years are calculated on a rolling three year

basis. Fees were subject to VAT as applicable.

The average aggregate base management fee, including the

investments in pooled vehicles and the currency note, calculated

on a size-weighted basis according to the value of the funds

under management, was 0.21 per cent as at 31 December 2007

(and 0.16 per cent as at 31 December 2006). The investments in

the fund covering Australasia and the currency note are subject

to uncapped performance fees of 20% of outperformance.

Excluding these two investments, the maximum performance

fees payable, if each of the other investment mandates performs

to at least the extent that the relevant cap applies, would result

in total fees of 0.76 per cent being paid (based on the value of

the funds under management at 31 December 2007). 

The Company has contracted separately with other parties for

the various supporting services that it requires. The main

contracts are with BNP Paribas Securities Services SA for global

custody, with BNP Paribas Fund Services UK Limited for

investment administration and accounting, and with Henderson
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Global Investors for company secretarial services. Since

November 2005 the Company has had a lease on office premises

at 14 Queen Anne’s Gate, London SW1H 9AA. The Company’s

registered office remains as 4 Broadgate, London EC2M 2DA.

It is the opinion of the directors that the continuing

appointment of the various investment managers is in the

interests of the Company’s shareholders as a whole and that

the terms of engagement negotiated with them are competitive

and appropriate to the investment mandates. The Board,

assisted by its advisers, carried out a rigorous and extensive

selection process in 2004. It reviews the appointments of the

investment managers on a regular basis and makes changes as

appropriate.

The investment managers may use certain services which are paid

for, or provided by, various brokers. In return they may place

business, including transactions relating to the Company, with

these brokers.

Articles of Association

It is proposed to make certain changes to the Company’s Articles

of Association in order to reflect the provisions of the

Companies Act 2006 in so far as they apply or may apply to the

Company. Accordingly, a special resolution will be put to the

Annual General Meeting to be held on 28 April 2008. Details of

the changes are set out in the notes to the Notice of Annual

General Meeting, on pages 58 to 60.

Share Buy-Backs

The Company’s Articles of Association permit the Company to

purchase its own shares and to fund such purchases from its

accumulated realised capital profits. 

At the Annual General Meeting in April 2007 a special resolution

was passed giving the Company authority, until the conclusion of

the Annual General Meeting in 2008, to make market purchases for

cancellation of the Company’s ordinary shares up to a maximum

of 37,653,782 shares (being 14.99% of the issued ordinary share

capital as at 30 April 2007). As at 31 December 2007 the Company

had valid authority, outstanding until the conclusion of the

Annual General Meeting in 2008, to make market purchases for

cancellation of 9,887,602 shares. During the year ended

31 December 2007 the Company purchased for cancellation a total

of 37,346,388 of its own ordinary shares, representing 14.3% of the

ordinary shares in issue at 31 December 2006. These purchases,

which cost £180.7 million excluding stamp duty, were funded from

the realised capital reserves. On 3 January 2008, at a General

Meeting of the Company called for the purpose, a special

resolution was passed giving the Company authority, until the

conclusion of the Annual General Meeting in 2008, to make

market purchases for cancellation of the Company’s ordinary

shares up to a maximum of 33,473,494 shares (being 14.99% of the

issued ordinary share capital as at 3 January 2008). A further

1,891,482 shares have been bought back between the year end and

the date of this report, of which 1,770,482 have been bought back

since the General Meeting on 3 January 2008.

The Board considers that the Company should continue to have

authority to make market purchases of its own ordinary shares for

cancellation. Accordingly, a special resolution will be proposed at

the forthcoming Annual General Meeting to authorise the

Company to make market purchases for cancellation of up to

14.99% of the ordinary shares in issue at the date of the Annual

General Meeting (equivalent to 33,208,099 ordinary shares if there

is no change in the issued ordinary share capital between the date

of this report and the Annual General Meeting). Under the Listing

Rules of the UK Listing Authority this is the maximum percentage

of its equity share capital that a company may purchase through

the market pursuant to such authority. 

The directors believe that buying back the Company’s own shares

in the market, at appropriate times and prices, is in the best

interests of shareholders generally. The Company will make

purchases, within guidelines set from time to time by the Board

and if or when market conditions are suitable, with the aim of

maximising the benefit to the remaining shareholders. The

Company announced in December 2004 its intention to buy back

shares proactively in order to maintain an appropriate level of

discount, with the aim, over three years, of moving the level of

the discount to below 10% (as calculated by valuing the

Company’s debt on a fair value basis). The directors will not use

this authority unless to do so would result in an increase in the

net asset value per ordinary share. Shares will not be bought at a

price that is less than 25p (the nominal value) or more than 5%

above the average middle market price of the shares over the

preceding five business days. The directors intend to seek a fresh

authority at the Annual General Meeting in 2009.
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The Company has not to date had authority to buy back its

preference shares for cancellation. The Board considers that it is

appropriate to have such authority in place, in respect of both

the classes of preference shares in issue, and a resolution to

provide this authority will be put to the Annual General Meeting

on 28 April 2008. The authority will be used only when the

Board considers it to be in the interests of the shareholders

generally to exercise it. 

New Zealand Listing

Since 8 March 2006 the Company’s shares have been listed on

the New Zealand Stock Exchange, in the category of Overseas 

Listed Issuer.

Payment of Suppliers

It is the Company’s payment policy for the financial year to

31 December 2008 to obtain the best terms for all business. In

general, the Company agrees with its suppliers the terms on

which business will take place and it is the Company’s policy to

abide by such terms. At 31 December 2007 the Company had no

trade creditors (2006: none).

Independent Auditors

Resolutions to re-appoint Deloitte & Touche LLP as the

Company’s auditors, and to authorise the directors to determine

their remuneration, will be proposed at the forthcoming Annual

General Meeting.

Directors’ Statement as to the Disclosure of Information to

the Auditors

Each of the directors at the date of approval of this report

confirms that:

(1) so far as the director is aware, there is no relevant audit

information of which the Company's auditors are unaware;

and

(2) the director has taken all the steps that he ought to have

taken as a director to make himself aware of any relevant

audit information and to establish that the Company's

auditors are aware of that information. 

This confirmation is given and should be interpreted in

accordance with the provisions of section 234ZA of the

Companies Act 1985.

Donations

No donations were made to political parties during the year. No

donations were made to charities during the year.

By order of the Board

G S Rice 

For and on behalf of

Henderson Secretarial Services Limited,

Secretary

6 March 2008
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Introduction

The Directors’ Remuneration Report (“the Report”) is prepared in

accordance with Schedule 7A of the Companies Act 1985 (“the

Act”) in respect of the year ended 31 December 2007. An

ordinary resolution to approve the Report will be put to the

Annual General Meeting on 28 April 2008. The Act requires the

auditors to report to the Company’s members on certain parts of

the Report and to state whether in their opinion those parts of

the Report have been properly prepared in accordance with the

Act. Therefore the Report has been divided into separate sections

for audited and unaudited information.

UNAUDITED INFORMATION

Consideration by the Directors of Matters relating to

Directors’ Remuneration

The Board as a whole sets the directors’ remuneration but it has

appointed its Remuneration Committee to consider matters

relating thereto. During the year the members of the

Remuneration Committee were Mr A W Jones (Chairman), 

Mr H M Henderson and Mr R H McGrath, who was appointed a

member with effect from 6 February 2007. The Remuneration

Committee has not been provided with advice or services by any

person in respect of its consideration of the non-executive

directors’ remuneration (although the directors expect from time

to time to review the fees paid to the boards of directors of other

investment trust companies). 

Statement of the Company’s Policy on Directors’ Remuneration

Non-executive directors

All the directors are non-executive, with the exception of the

Chief Executive Officer. New directors are appointed for an initial

term ending three years from the date of their first annual

general meeting after appointment and with the expectation that

they will serve two three-year terms. The continuation of

directors’ appointments is contingent on satisfactory performance

evaluation and re-election at annual general meetings. Directors’

appointments are reviewed formally every three years by the

Board as a whole. None of the directors has a contract of service

and a director may resign by notice in writing to the Board at any

time; there are no set notice periods. The Company’s policy is for

the directors to be remunerated in the form of fees, payable

quarterly in arrears, to the director personally or to a third party

specified by him. There are no long term incentive schemes or

pension arrangements and the fees are not specifically related to

the directors’ performance, either individually or collectively.

The Company’s policy is that the fees payable to the directors

should reflect the time committed by the directors to the

Company’s affairs and the responsibilities borne by them and

should be sufficient to enable candidates of high calibre to be

recruited. The policy is for the Chairman of the Board and the

Chairman of the Audit Committee to be paid higher fees than

the other directors in recognition of their more onerous roles.

The Company’s Articles of Association limit the fees payable to

the directors to £250,000 per annum in aggregate. In the year

under review directors’ fees were paid at the following annual

rates: the Chairman £45,000; the Chairman of the Audit

Committee £26,000; Mr McGrath, who has the additional role

of monitoring the Group’s marketing activities on behalf of the

Board, £26,000; the other directors £23,000. The policy is to

review these rates from time to time, although such review will

not necessarily result in any change to the rates.

Since the year end the Remuneration Committee has completed a

review of the directors’ fees and, on its recommendation, the Board

has agreed to increase the annual fees payable to the directors with

effect from 1 April 2008 to: the Chairman £50,000; the Chairman

of the Audit Committee £30,000; Mr McGrath £30,000; the other

directors £26,000. These increases reflect the increase in the

ordinary dividend over the three year period since the fees were

last increased. 

Directors’ and officers’ liability insurance cover is held by the

Company in respect of all the directors.

Executive director

Mr J Horsburgh is the Chief Executive Officer (“CEO”) and the

sole executive director of the Company. 

The Company’s policy on the remuneration of the CEO is to pay a

basic salary appropriate to the position, together with bonus

arrangements that link his remuneration to the performance

achieved in the different aspects of his role. The CEO’s service

agreement dated 16 January 2004, as revised by a side letter dated

3 June 2005, provides for a salary of £215,000 per annum, pension

Directors’ Remuneration Report
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contributions equivalent to 10% of salary to a pension scheme of

his choosing (or payment in lieu thereof) and private health

insurance cover. His salary was increased to £236,500 per annum

with effect from 1 January 2007. The bonus arrangements provide,

at the ultimate discretion of the Board, a bonus of up to 50% of

salary in respect of each calendar year. Bonus payments will be

made over two years, subject normally to continued employment

with the Company. The performance over the year of the

Company’s net asset value per share relative to its benchmark

determines 60% of his bonus payments. Outperformance of the

benchmark by 2% or more will generate a bonus of the full 60%; no

bonus is payable if performance is in line with or below that of the

benchmark; relative performance of between nil and 2% will

generate a pro rata award. Until 30 September 2007 the benchmark

was a composite of 50% the FTSE All-Share Index and 50% the FTSE

World (ex UK) Index, both on a capital return basis. Since 1 October

2007 the benchmark has been a composite of 40% the FTSE All-

Share Index, 20% the FTSE All-World North America Index, 20%

the FTSE All-World Europe (ex UK) Index and 20% the FTSE All-

World Asia Pacific Index, all on a capital return basis. The remaining

40% is awarded, at the Board’s discretion, on the basis of his overall

performance as CEO of the Company. The appointment may be

terminated by either party subject to not less than twelve months’

written notice. The CEO is not entitled to fees for his service as

a director. He is entitled to take unpaid leave, subject to the

approval of the Chairman (and he did so in 2007 and 2006).

Performance Graph

The Act requires the performance of the Company’s share price to

be compared to a single broad equity market index. The FTSE All-

Share Index is selected for the graph because it is the prime index

of the UK market, on which the Company’s shares are listed, and

forms the largest constituent of the Company’s benchmark. The

FTSE World (ex UK) Index is also shown because more than half

of the Company’s investments are held in overseas companies. 

AUDITED INFORMATION

Amount of each Director’s emoluments

Non-executive directors

The fees payable in respect of each of the directors who served

during the year, and during 2006, were as follows:

2007 2006

£ £

H M Henderson 45,000 45,000

R W C Colvill (i) 8,643 26,000

A W Jones 23,000 23,000

R H McGrath 26,000 26,000

R A Bruce 23,000 23,000

A Watson (ii) 23,000 21,019

J E B Bevan (iii) 21,019 –

R W Boyle (iv) 23,022 –

C G Clarke (v) – 7,266

C S McVeigh III (vi) – 7,266

J C Platt (vii) – 15,333

TOTAL 192,684 193,884

Notes:

(i) Mr Colvill retired from the Board and as Chairman of the Audit Committee on

30 April 2007.

(ii) Mr Watson was appointed a director on 1 February 2006.

(iii) Mr Bevan was appointed a director on 1 February 2007.

(iv) Mr Boyle was appointed a director on 1 February 2007 and as Chairman of the

Audit Committee on 30 April 2007.

(v) Mr Clarke retired from the Board on 24 April 2006.

(vi) Mr McVeigh retired from the Board on 24 April 2006.

(vii) Ms Platt resigned from the Board with effect from 31 August 2006.

Executive director

The remuneration payable to the Chief Executive Officer in

respect of the year is as follows:

2007 2006

£ £

Basic salary 219,532 197,646

Paid in lieu of pension contributions 20,966 17,472

Performance related bonus 51,170 82,550

Pension contributions – 1,667

Benefits in kind (health and life insurance) 5,803 5,033

TOTAL 297,471 304,368

By order of the Board

G S Rice 

For and on behalf of

Henderson Secretarial Services Limited,

Secretary

6 March 2008

2003 2004 2005 2006 20072002

FTSE World (ex UK) Index, sterling adjusted, assuming the
notional investment of £1,000 into the Index on 31 December
2002 and the reinvestment of all income (excluding dealing
expenses).

FTSE All-Share Index total return, assuming the notional
investment of £1,000 into the Index on 31 December 2002
and the reinvestment of all income (excluding dealing expenses).

Witan share price total return, assuming the investment of 
£1,000 on 31 December 2002 and the reinvestment of all 
dividends (excluding dealing expenses).

£1,600

£1,800

£2,000

£2,200

£2,400

£1,400

£1,200

£1,000
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Background

The UK Listing Authority requires all listed companies to disclose

how they have applied the principles and complied with the

provisions of the Combined Code on Corporate Governance

(“the Code”).

Throughout the year under review the Code in force was the

Combined Code on Corporate Governance issued by the

Financial Reporting Council in June 2006. In addition, the AIC

Code of Corporate Governance, issued by the Association of

Investment Companies in May 2007, applies to the Company

(“the AIC Code”).

Application of the Principles of the Code

The Company is committed to high standards of corporate

governance and the Board attaches importance to the matters set

out in the Code and applies its principles. However, as an

investment trust company, many of the Company’s day to day

responsibilities are delegated to third parties and all but one of

the directors are non-executive.

The Board

The Board is collectively responsible for the success of the Company.

Its role is to provide leadership within a framework of prudent and

effective controls that enable risk to be assessed and managed.

The Board sets the Company’s strategic aims (subject to the

Company’s memorandum and articles of association, and to such

approval of the shareholders in general meeting as may be required

from time to time) and ensures that the necessary resources are in

place to enable the Company’s objectives to be met.

The Board currently consists of eight directors, all of whom are

independent of the Company’s various investment managers.

With the sole exception of the Chief Executive Officer, the

directors are all non-executive. Their biographical details, set out

on page 2, demonstrate a breadth of investment, industrial,

commercial and professional experience with an international

perspective.

The Board meets at least ten times a year and deals with the most

important aspects of the Company’s affairs, including the setting

of parameters for and the monitoring of investment strategy, the

review of investment performance and the extent to which

borrowings may be used. The Chief Executive Officer is

responsible to the Board for the overall management of the

Company. His duties include leading on investment strategy and

asset allocation, on the selection and monitoring of the

investment managers and their terms of reference, on the use of

derivatives and for all other aspects of the Company’s affairs,

including shareholder relations, marketing, investment trust

industry matters, administration and the unquoted investments.

The Chief Executive Officer reports to each meeting of the Board.

His report includes confirmation from each of the investment

managers that they have carried out their duties in accordance

with the terms of their investment mandates and confirmation

that the Board’s investment limits and restrictions have been

adhered to, including those which govern the Company’s tax

status as an investment trust. The investment managers take

decisions as to the purchase and sale of individual investments

and are responsible for effecting those decisions on the best

available terms. The Chairman is responsible for ensuring that the

directors are provided, in a timely manner, with management,

regulatory and financial information that is clear, accurate and

relevant, whether from the Chief Executive Officer or otherwise.

Representatives of the investment managers attend Board

meetings on a regular basis, enabling the directors to monitor the

management of the Company’s assets, to seek clarification on

specific issues or to probe further on any points of concern.

Matters specifically reserved for decision by the full Board have

been defined and there is an agreed procedure for directors, in

the furtherance of their duties, to take independent professional

advice, if necessary, at the Company’s expense. The directors

have access to the advice and services of the corporate company

secretary, through its appointed representative, who is responsible

to the Board for ensuring that Board procedures are followed.

When a director is appointed he or she is offered a tailored

introductory programme. Directors are also provided, on a

regular basis, with key information on the Company’s policies,

regulatory and statutory requirements and internal controls.

Changes affecting directors’ responsibilities are advised to the

Board as they arise. Directors are encouraged to attend suitable

training courses on an ongoing basis at the Company’s expense.

Corporate Governance
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Directors are appointed for specified terms, subject to re-election

and to the provisions of the Companies Act. In accordance with

the Company’s Articles of Association, new directors stand for

election at the first annual general meeting following their

appointment. The Board has agreed that every director will stand

for re-election at intervals of not more than three years. The

Board’s report on the independence of the directors is set out on

pages 21 and 22.

The Board’s tenure and succession policy seeks to ensure that the

Board is well-balanced and refreshed regularly by the

appointment of new directors with the skills and experience

necessary, in particular, to replace those lost by directors’

retirements. Directors must be able to demonstrate their

commitment to the Company, including in terms of time. The

Board seeks to encompass relevant past and current experience

of various areas, the most important skill-sets being investment

management, finance, marketing, financial services, risk

management, custody and settlement, and investment banking.

The Board’s procedure in 2007 for evaluating the performance of

the Board, its Committees and the individual directors was by

means of individual meetings of the Chairman with each of the

directors. A meeting of the directors was then held, without the

Chairman present, to evaluate his performance. The evaluation

process is designed to show whether individual directors

continue to contribute effectively to the Board and to clarify the

strengths and weaknesses of the Board’s composition and

processes. The Chairman has taken the lead in acting on the

results of the evaluation process, mindful of the requirement to

refresh the composition of the Board from time to time without

reducing the stability, sense of purpose and effectiveness of the

Board that was highlighted by the evaluation process. 

The Chairman of the Company is an independent director.

Mr Watson was appointed Senior Independent Director on

5 February 2008, after the year end. Nevertheless, the Board

considers that, by design, the directors have different qualities

and areas of expertise on which they may lead when issues arise.

In addition, the Board has appointed separate chairmen to lead

its two permanent committees. Accordingly, any concerns can be

conveyed to the director most qualified to address the subject.

Board Committees

The Board has established Audit and Remuneration Committees.

The Remuneration Committee has responsibility for the duties

of the Board’s former Nominations Committee. The duties of the

former Management Engagement Committee are now the

responsibility of the Chief Executive Officer. The membership of

the Audit Committee and the Remuneration Committee is set

out on pages 2 and 22.

Audit Committee

The report of the Audit Committee is set out on page 32.

Remuneration Committee

The Committee comprises three non-executive directors

appointed by the Board; the Board also appoints the Chairman.

The Committee held four meetings during the year. Its

programme is to meet at least once a year, in advance of the year

end, and on other occasions as necessary.

The role of the Remuneration Committee is to determine and

review the Company’s remuneration policy, to establish the

incentive arrangements for, and to evaluate the performance of,

the Chief Executive Officer, to assess the effectiveness of the

Board and to consider the remuneration of the non-executive

directors. It is also responsible for reviewing the composition of

the Board and for proposing nominations for appointment to it.

Each director is invited to submit nominations and external

advisers may be used to identify or assess potential candidates.

The nominations list is considered by the Board as a whole,

although the Chairman would not expect to be involved in the

selection of his successor.

Two Board appointments were made early in 2007. The directors

reviewed the skills and experience required of potential new

directors. The Remuneration Committee, assisted by a specialist

firm of search consultants, Trust Associates Limited, prepared a

short list of candidates and made a recommendation to the

Board. The Board accepted the recommendations and its two

invitations to join the Board were both accepted.

Directors’ Remuneration

The directors’ remuneration is detailed in the Directors’

Remuneration Report on pages 26 and 27.
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Relations with Shareholders

The Board seeks to develop an understanding of the views of the

major shareholders by receiving reports from the Chief Executive

Officer and from the Witan Marketing Director on meetings that

they have with shareholders, investors and analysts and from the

Company’s stockbrokers on contact it has with shareholders and

investors. The Chairman, and other members of the Board if

requested, expect to be available to talk to major shareholders.

The Board considers that the annual general meeting should

provide an effective forum for individual investors to

communicate with the directors. The annual general meeting is

chaired by the Chairman of the Board. The Chairmen of the Audit

Committee and the Remuneration Committee also expect to be

present and able to answer questions from shareholders as

appropriate. Details of the proxy votes received in respect of each

resolution are made available to shareholders. The Chief Executive

Officer makes a presentation to the meeting. The Company has

adopted a nominee share code which is set out on page 64. 

Accountability and Audit

The directors’ statement of responsibilities in respect of the

accounts is set out on page 33.

The report of the independent auditors is set out on page 34. 

The Board has delegated contractually to external agents,

including the various investment managers, the management of

the investment portfolio, global custody (which includes the

safeguarding of the assets), the investment administration,

management and financial accounting, company secretarial and

certain other administrative requirements and the registration

services. Each of these contracts was entered into after full and

proper consideration by the Board of the quality and cost of the

services offered, including the control systems in operation in so

far as they relate to the affairs of the Company. The Board

receives and considers regular reports from the investment

managers and ad hoc reports and information are supplied to

the Board from its other contractors as required. 

Internal Control

The Board has established an ongoing process for identifying,

evaluating and managing the significant risks faced by the

Company. This process accords with the Turnbull guidance, is

subject to regular review by the Audit Committee and was fully

in place during the year under review and up to the date of this

annual report. The Board remains responsible for the Company’s

system of internal control and has conducted its annual review of

the effectiveness of the system, covering all the controls,

including financial, operational and compliance controls and risk

management systems. This review took into account points raised

during the year in the regular appraisal of specific areas of risk. 

However, such a system is designed to manage rather than

eliminate the risks of failure to achieve the Company’s business

objectives and can only provide reasonable and not absolute

assurance against material misstatement or loss.

During the year the Board undertook a full review of the

Company’s business risks. These are analysed and recorded in a

risk map. The Company receives each quarter from its main

contractors formal reports which detail the steps taken to monitor

the areas of risk and which report the details of any known

internal control failures. The Board receives each year from its UK

based investment managers and its investment administrator

reports on their internal controls, each of which includes a report

from the relevant company’s auditors on the control policies and

procedures in operation. Steps will continue to be taken to embed

the system of internal control and risk management into the

operations and culture of the Company and of its key suppliers.

The Company’s subsidiary, Witan Investment Services Limited, is

authorised by the Financial Services Authority to undertake the

regulated activities necessary to manage savings schemes for

investors. The compliance structures required for these activities,

including a compliance manual and a compliance monitoring

programme, have been duly put into place. 

The Company has a formal policy for staff to raise in confidence

any concerns about possible improprieties, whether in matters of

financial reporting or otherwise, for appropriate independent

investigation. Its staff comprises only five people (including the

Chief Executive Officer), who are well known to and have

frequent and informal contact with the members of the Board. 

Corporate Governance
continued
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The Company does not have an internal audit function. It

delegates to third parties the management of its investments

and most of its other operations and employs only a

small staff. The investment managers and certain other key

contractors are subject to external regulation and most have

compliance and internal audit functions of their own. The

Company’s investments are held on its behalf by a global

custodian. A specialist firm of investment accountants and

administrators is responsible for investment administration, for

maintaining accounting records and for preparing financial

accounts, management accounts and other management

information. The investment performance of the investment

managers, both individually and collectively, is measured for

Witan by a company that is independent of all the investment

managers. The corporate company secretary is a company with

long experience in servicing investment trusts. The

appointment of these and other professional contractors

provides a clear separation of duties and a structure of internal

controls that is balanced and robust. The Board will continue

to monitor its system of internal control in order to provide

assurance that it operates as intended and the directors will

review at least annually whether a function equivalent to an

internal audit is needed.

Going Concern

The assets of the Company consist mainly of securities that are

readily realisable and, accordingly, the Company has adequate

financial resources to continue in operational existence for the

foreseeable future. Therefore, the directors believe that it is

appropriate to continue to adopt the going concern basis in

preparing the accounts.

Exercise of Voting Powers

It is the Board’s view that in order to achieve long–term success

companies need to maintain high standards of corporate governance

and corporate responsibility. Therefore the Board encourages its

investment managers to vote proxies in the best long term interest of

Witan shareholders and in accordance with their own investment

philosophies. The Company’s UK equity managers expect UK

companies to comply with the Combined Code, including the

Turnbull Guidance on Internal Control, or to provide adequate

explanation of any area in which they fail to comply whilst

recognising that a different approach may be justified in special

circumstances. Elsewhere, it can be more difficult to vote shares as

each country has its own rules and practices regarding shareholder

notification, voting restrictions, registration conditions and share

blocking, including, for example, dealing constraints. Therefore,

whilst the Board has agreed general policies with the non-UK

managers, they do use their discretion in applying these in

individual circumstances.

Statement of Compliance

The directors consider that the Company has complied during

the year ended 31 December 2007 with all the relevant

provisions set out in the Code, with the exception that the

Board did not appoint a senior independent director until after

the year end (Code Provision A.3.3). The directors consider that

the Company has complied throughout the year ended

31 December 2007 with the AIC Code.

New Zealand Listing

It should be noted that the UK Codes of Corporate Governance

may materially differ from the New Zealand Stock Exchange’s

corporate governance rules and principles of the Corporate Best

Practice Code. Investors may find more information at

www.theaic.co.uk

Warning to Shareholders  
Over recent months many companies have become aware that their shareholders have received unsolicited phone calls or
correspondence concerning investment matters. These are typically from overseas based ‘brokers’ who target UK shareholders
offering to sell them what often turn out to be worthless or high risk shares in US or UK investments. They can be very persistent
and extremely persuasive. Shareholders are therefore advised to be very wary of any unsolicited advice, offers to buy shares at a
discount or offers of free company reports.

Please note that it is very unlikely that either the Company or the Company’s Registrar, Computershare Investor Services PLC,
would make unsolicited telephone calls to shareholders and that any such calls would relate only to official documentation already
circulated to shareholders and never in respect of investment ‘advice’. 

If you are in any doubt about the veracity of an unsolicited phone call, please call either the Company Secretary or the Registrar at
the numbers provided on page 64.
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Report of the Audit Committee

The role of the Audit Committee is to assist the directors in

applying financial reporting and internal control principles and

to maintain an appropriate relationship with the Group’s

auditors.

The Committee’s role and responsibilities are set out in its terms

of reference, which comply with the Combined Code. During

the year the Committee reviewed its terms of reference and

recommended minor amendments to them; these were agreed

by the Board. The terms of reference are available on request

from the Company Secretary and can be seen on the Company’s

website.

The Committee is responsible for monitoring the integrity of the

Company’s financial statements, including consideration of the

Company’s accounting policies and significant reporting

judgements. It reviews the Company’s internal financial controls

and risk management systems. It reviews the scope and

effectiveness of the audit process and monitors the auditors’

independence and objectivity. It makes recommendations in

relation to the appointment of the external auditors, including

their remuneration and the provision by them of any non-audit

services. The Committee has established a procedure to ensure

that the engagement of the auditors to provide non-audit

services cannot exceed a specified proportion of the annual audit

fees without due consideration being given by the Committee to

the proposed appointment. The Committee also reviews the

process for negotiating and monitoring major contracts

undertaken by the Company, the Board’s investment restrictions

and the values attributed to the unlisted investments. It ensures

that the Company maintains appropriate compliance with the

requirements of regulators; and it reviews the reporting of

investment performance. The Committee reports to the Board,

identifying matters on which it considers that action is needed

and making recommendations on the steps to be taken. 

The Committee comprises three non-executive directors,

including its Chairman, who are appointed by the Board.

Mr Colvill was Chairman of the Committee until his retirement

from the Board on 30 April 2007. Mr Boyle was appointed to the

Board and as a member of the Committee on 1 February 2007;

he became Chairman of the Committee on 30 April 2007.

Mr Boyle is a Chartered Accountant and was previously a partner

in PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP. The other two members are

Mr Bruce and Mr Watson, who were appointed in 2002 and 2006

respectively; details of their qualifications and experience are

given on page 2. The Committee’s programme is to meet at least

three times a year: in advance of the publication of both the

annual and the half year results and on at least one other

occasion with an agenda that is focused on its broader

responsibilities.

The Committee held four meetings during the year, at two of

which representatives of the auditors were present: to consider

the outcome of the audit of the Group’s 2006 financial

statements and to consider the plan for the audit of the Group’s

2007 financial statements. During the year the Committee

conducted a review of the audit appointment and invited a

selected shortlist of firms to present to it. The outcome of the

review was that the Board accepted the Committee’s

recommendation that Deloitte & Touche LLP be asked to

continue as the Group’s auditors. 

During the year the Committee addressed all the matters set out

as its responsibilities under its terms of reference. In particular,

the Committee considered the Board’s processes for the review of

the Group’s internal control and risk management systems (and

concluded that the Group should not establish an internal audit

function); the subsidiary company’s compliance with its

responsibilities as a regulated entity; and the arrangements by

which staff may raise concerns about any possible improprieties. 

Robert Boyle

Chairman of the Audit Committee

6 March 2008
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Statement of Directors’ Responsibilities
in accordance with appropriate law and regulations 

The directors are responsible for preparing the Annual Report,

the Directors’ Remuneration Report and the financial statements

in accordance with applicable law and regulations. Company law

requires the directors to prepare financial statements for the

Group for each financial year. The directors are required by the

IAS Regulation to prepare the Group’s financial statements under

International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRSs) as adopted

by the European Union and have also elected to prepare

financial statements for the Company in accordance with IFRSs

as adopted by the European Union. The financial statements are

also required by law to be properly prepared in accordance with

the Companies Act 1985 and Article 4 of the IAS Regulation.

International Accounting Standard 1 requires that financial

statements present fairly for each financial year the Company’s

financial position, financial performance and cash flows. This

requires the faithful representation of the effects of

transactions, other events and conditions in accordance with

the definitions and recognition criteria for assets, liabilities,

income and expenses set out in the International Accounting

Standards Board’s Framework for the Preparation and Presentation

of Financial Statements. In virtually all circumstances, a fair

presentation will be achieved by compliance with all applicable

IFRSs as adopted by the European Union. However, the

directors are also required to:

■ properly select and apply accounting policies;

■ present information, including accounting policies, in a

manner that provides relevant, reliable, comparable and

understandable information; and

■ provide additional disclosures when compliance with the

specific requirements in IFRSs as adopted by the European

Union are insufficient to enable users to understand the

impact of particular transactions, other events and

conditions on the entity’s financial position and financial

performance.

The directors are responsible for keeping proper accounting

records which disclose with reasonable accuracy at any time the

financial position of the Company and enable them to ensure

that the financial statements comply with the Companies Act

1985. They are also responsible for safeguarding the assets of the

Company and hence for taking reasonable steps for the

prevention and detection of fraud and other irregularities.

The directors are responsible for the maintenance and integrity

of the corporate and financial information included on the

Company’s website. Legislation in the United Kingdom

governing the preparation and dissemination of financial

statements may differ from legislation in other jurisdictions.

Note to those who access this document by electronic means

The annual report for the year ended 31 December 2007 has been approved by the Board of Witan Investment Trust plc and

circulated to the Company’s shareholders in hard copy format. It is also made available in electronic format for the convenience of

readers. However, the Board cannot accept responsibility for guaranteeing the integrity of the document in electronic format.

Printed copies are available from the Company’s Registered Office in London.

Readers should note that legislation in the United Kingdom governing the preparation and dissemination of financial statements

differs from legislation in other jurisdictions.
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We have audited the group and parent company financial
statements (the “financial statements”) of Witan Investment
Trust plc for the year ended 31 December 2007 which comprise
the consolidated income statement, the consolidated and parent
company balance sheets, the consolidated and parent company
cash flow statements, the consolidated and parent company
statements of changes in shareholders’ equity and the related
notes 1 to 24. These financial statements have been prepared
under the accounting policies set out therein. We have also
audited the information in the Directors’ Remuneration Report
that is described as having been audited.

This report is made solely to the company’s members, as a body,
in accordance with section 235 of the Companies Act 1985. Our
audit work has been undertaken so that we might state to the
company’s members those matters we are required to state to
them in an auditors’ report and for no other purpose. To the
fullest extent permitted by law, we do not accept or assume
responsibility to anyone other than the company and the
company’s members as a body, for our audit work, for this
report, or for the opinions we have formed.

Respective responsibilities of directors and auditors
The directors’ responsibilities for preparing the Annual Report,
the Directors’ Remuneration Report and the financial statements
in accordance with applicable law and International Financial
Reporting Standards (IFRSs) as adopted by the European Union
are set out in the Statement of Directors’ Responsibilities.

Our responsibility is to audit the financial statements and the
part of the Directors’ Remuneration Report to be audited in
accordance with relevant legal and regulatory requirements and
International Standards on Auditing (UK and Ireland). 

We report to you our opinion as to whether the financial
statements give a true and fair view and whether the financial
statements and the part of the Directors’ Remuneration Report
to be audited have been properly prepared in accordance with
the Companies Act 1985 and, as regards the group financial
statements, Article 4 of the IAS Regulation. We also report to you
whether in our opinion the information given in the Directors’
Report is consistent with the financial statements. The
information given in the Directors’ Report includes that specific
information presented in the Business Review on pages 7 to 17.

In addition we report to you if, in our opinion, the company has
not kept proper accounting records, if we have not received all
the information and explanations we require for our audit, or if
information specified by law regarding directors’ remuneration
and other transactions is not disclosed.

We review whether the Corporate Governance Statement reflects
the company’s compliance with the nine provisions of the 2006
Combined Code specified for our review by the Listing Rules of
the Financial Services Authority, and we report if it does not. We
are not required to consider whether the board’s statements on
internal control cover all risks and controls, or form an opinion
on the effectiveness of the group’s corporate governance
procedures or its risk and control procedures.

We read the other information contained in the Annual Report,
as described in the Contents section, and consider whether it is
consistent with the audited financial statements. The other

information comprises only the Directors’ Report, the unaudited
part of the Directors’ Remuneration Report, the Chairman’s
Statement and the Corporate Governance Statement. We
consider the implications for our report if we become aware of
any apparent misstatements or material inconsistencies with the
financial statements. Our responsibilities do not extend to any
further information outside the Annual Report.

Basis of audit opinion
We conducted our audit in accordance with International
Standards on Auditing (UK and Ireland) issued by the Auditing
Practices Board. An audit includes examination, on a test basis,
of evidence relevant to the amounts and disclosures in the
financial statements and the part of the Directors’ Remuneration
Report to be audited. It also includes an assessment of the
significant estimates and judgements made by the directors in
the preparation of the financial statements, and of whether the
accounting policies are appropriate to the group’s and company’s
circumstances, consistently applied and adequately disclosed.

We planned and performed our audit so as to obtain all the
information and explanations which we considered necessary in
order to provide us with sufficient evidence to give reasonable
assurance that the financial statements and the part of the
Directors’ Remuneration Report to be audited are free from
material misstatement, whether caused by fraud or other
irregularity or error. In forming our opinion we also evaluated
the overall adequacy of the presentation of information in the
financial statements and the part of the Directors’ Remuneration
Report to be audited.

Opinion
In our opinion:
• the group financial statements give a true and fair view, in

accordance with IFRSs as adopted by the European Union, of
the state of the group’s affairs as at 31 December 2007 and of
its profit for the year then ended; 

• the parent company financial statements give a true and fair
view, in accordance with IFRSs as adopted by the European
Union as applied in accordance with the provisions of the
Companies Act 1985, of the state of the parent company’s
affairs as at 31 December 2007;

• the financial statements and the part of the Directors’
Remuneration Report to be audited have been properly
prepared in accordance with the Companies Act 1985 and, as
regards the group financial statements, Article 4 of the IAS
Regulation; and

• the information given in the Directors’ Report is consistent
with the financial statements.

DELOITTE & TOUCHE LLP

Chartered Accountants and Registered Auditors
London
6 March 2008

Note to those who access this document by electronic means
An audit does not provide assurance on the maintenance and integrity of the
website, including controls used to achieve this, and in particular on whether any
changes may have occurred to the financial statements since first published. These
matters are the responsibility of the directors but no control procedures can provide
absolute assurance in this area.

Legislation in the United Kingdom governing the preparation and dissemination of
financial information differs from legislation in other jurisdictions.

Independent Auditors’ Report
to the members of Witan Investment Trust plc 
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Witan Investment Trust plc
Consolidated Income Statement
for the year ended 31 December 2007

Year ended 31 December 2007 Year ended 31 December 2006
Revenue Capital Revenue Capital

return return Total return return Total
Notes £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

2 Investment income 31,817 – 31,817 32,483 – 32,483

3 Other income 7,659 – 7,659 7,276 – 7,276

10 Gains on investments held at fair value 
through profit or loss – 54,884 54,884 – 112,547 112,547

Total income 39,476 54,884 94,360 39,759 112,547 152,306

Expenses
4 Management fees (505) (2,009) (2,514) (460) (2,044) (2,504)
24 Write-back of prior years’ VAT 324 1,126 1,450 – – –
5 Other expenses (5,432) – (5,432) (4,990) – (4,990)

Profit before finance costs and taxation 33,863 54,001 87,864 34,309 110,503 144,812

6 Finance costs (2,618) (7,600) (10,218) (2,632) (7,647) (10,279)

Profit before taxation 31,245 46,401 77,646 31,677 102,856 134,533

7 Taxation (4,108) 2,494 (1,614) (4,112) 2,410 (1,702)

Profit attributable to equity holders of
the parent company 27,137 48,895 76,032 27,565 105,266 132,831

9 Earnings per ordinary share 11.08p 19.97p 31.05p 10.24p 39.13p 49.37p

The total column of this statement represents the Group’s Income Statement, prepared in accordance with IFRSs as adopted by the
European Union. The revenue return and capital return columns are supplementary to this and are prepared under guidance
published by the Association of Investment Companies. All items in the above statement derive from continuing operations.

All income is attributable to the equity holders of Witan Investment Trust plc, the parent company. There are no minority interests.

The notes on pages 39 to 55 form part of these accounts.
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The notes on pages 39 to 55 form part of these accounts.

Witan Investment Trust plc
Consolidated and Individual Company Statements of Changes in Equity
for the year ended 31 December 2007

Group
Year ended 31 December 2007

Ordinary Share Capital Other
share premium redemption capital Revenue

capital account reserve reserves reserve Total
Notes £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

At 31 December 2006 65,193 16,237 28,633 1,192,597 45,874 1,348,534

Profit for the year – – – 48,895 27,137 76,032

8 Ordinary dividends paid – – – – (23,707) (23,707)

15, 16 Buy-backs of ordinary shares (9,336) – 9,336 (181,553) – (181,553)

At 31 December 2007 55,857 16,237 37,969 1,059,939 49,304 1,219,306

Company
Year ended 31 December 2007

Ordinary Share Capital Other
share premium redemption capital Revenue

capital account reserve reserves reserve Total
Notes £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

At 31 December 2006 65,193 16,237 28,633 1,192,451 46,020 1,348,534

Profit for the year – – – 49,127 26,905 76,032

8 Ordinary dividends paid – – – – (23,707) (23,707)

15, 16 Buy-backs of ordinary shares (9,336) – 9,336 (181,553) – (181,553)

At 31 December 2007 55,857 16,237 37,969 1,060,025 49,218 1,219,306

Group
Year ended 31 December 2006

Ordinary Share Capital Other
share premium redemption capital Revenue

capital account reserve reserves reserve Total
Notes £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

At 31 December 2005 73,747 16,237 20,079 1,232,310 42,544 1,384,917

Profit for the year – – – 105,266 27,565 132,831

8 Ordinary dividends paid – – – – (24,235) (24,235)

15 Buy-backs of ordinary shares (8,554) – 8,554 (144,979) – (144,979)

At 31 December 2006 65,193 16,237 28,633 1,192,597 45,874 1,348,534

Company
Year ended 31 December 2006

Ordinary Share Capital Other
share premium redemption capital Revenue

capital account reserve reserves reserve Total
Notes £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

At 31 December 2005 73,747 16,237 20,079 1,232,228 42,626 1,384,917

Profit for the year – – – 105,202 27,629 132,831

8 Ordinary dividends paid – – – – (24,235) (24,235)

15 Buy-backs of ordinary shares (8,554) – 8,554 (144,979) – (144,979)

At 31 December 2006 65,193 16,237 28,633 1,192,451 46,020 1,348,534
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Witan Investment Trust plc
Consolidated and Individual Company Balance Sheets
as at 31 December 2007

Group Company Group Company
31 December 31 December 31 December 31 December

2007 2007 2006 2006
Notes £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

Non current assets 
10 Investments at fair value through profit or loss 1,276,354 1,277,340 1,382,554 1,383,308

Current assets 
11 Other receivables 6,742 6,625 6,368 6,143

Cash and cash equivalents 88,394 87,166 114,610 113,934

95,136 93,791 120,978 120,077

Total assets 1,371,490 1,371,131 1,503,532 1,503,385

Current liabilities 
12 Other payables (5,277) (4,918) (8,170) (8,023)

Total assets less current liabilities 1,366,213 1,366,213 1,495,362 1,495,362

Non current liabilities
13 81/2 per cent. Debenture Stock 2016 (45,779) (45,779) (45,779) (45,779)
13 6.125 per cent. Secured Bonds due 2025 (98,573) (98,573) (98,494) (98,494)
13, 17 3.4 per cent. cumulative preference shares of £1 (2,055) (2,055) (2,055) (2,055)
13, 17 2.7 per cent. cumulative preference shares of £1 (500) (500) (500) (500)

(146,907) (146,907) (146,828) (146,828)

Net assets 1,219,306 1,219,306 1,348,534 1,348,534

Equity attributable to equity holders
15 Ordinary share capital 55,857 55,857 65,193 65,193
16 Share premium account 16,237 16,237 16,237 16,237
16 Capital redemption reserve 37,969 37,969 28,633 28,633

Retained earnings:
16 Other capital reserves 1,059,939 1,060,025 1,192,597 1,192,451
16 Revenue reserve 49,304 49,218 45,874 46,020

Total equity 1,219,306 1,219,306 1,348,534 1,348,534

18 Net asset value per ordinary share 545.7p 545.7p 517.1p 517.1p

The financial statements were approved by the directors and authorised for issue on 6 March 2008 and were signed on their behalf by

H M Henderson

J Horsburgh

The notes on pages 39 to 55 form part of these accounts.
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Group Company Group Company
Year ended Year ended Year ended Year ended

31 December 31 December 31 December 31 December
2007 2007 2006 2006

Notes £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

Operating activities
Profit before taxation 77,646 77,646 134,533 134,533
Interest paid 10,072 10,072 10,183 10,183

10 Gains on investments held at fair value through profit or loss (54,884) (55,116) (112,547) (112,483)
19 Net sales of investments held at fair value through profit or loss 158,309 158,309 175,508 175,508

(Increase)/decrease in other receivables (1,202) (1,310) (106) 249
(Decrease)/increase in other payables (420) (632) 245 167
Net profit from futures contracts 3,029 3,029 1,316 1,316
Scrip dividends included in investment income (269) (269) (414) (414)

Net cash inflow from operating activities before interest 
and taxation 192,281 191,729 208,718 209,059
Interest paid (10,072) (10,072) (10,183) (10,183)
Amortisation of debt issue costs 79 79 80 80

7 Tax on overseas income (1,836) (1,836) (1,558) (1,558)

Net cash inflow from operating activities 180,452 179,900 197,057 197,398

Financing activities
8 Equity dividends paid (23,707) (23,707) (24,235) (24,235)

Buy-backs of ordinary shares (182,567) (182,567) (143,001) (143,001)

Net cash outflow from financing activities (206,274) (206,274) (167,236) (167,236)

(Decrease)/increase in cash and cash equivalents (25,822) (26,374) 29,821 30,162
Cash and cash equivalents at the start of the year 114,610 113,934 86,319 85,302
Effect of foreign exchange rate changes (394) (394) (1,530) (1,530)

Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the year 88,394 87,166 114,610 113,934

Witan Investment Trust plc
Consolidated and Individual Company Cash Flow Statements
for the year ended 31 December 2007

The notes on pages 39 to 55 form part of these accounts.
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Notes to the Accounts
for the year ended 31 December 2007

1 Accounting policies
The financial statements of the Group have been prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards

(“IFRSs”) as adopted by the European Union. These comprise standards and interpretations approved by the International

Accounting Standards Board (“IASB”), together with interpretations of the International Accounting Standards and

Standing Interpretations Committee approved by the International Accounting Standards Committee (“IASC”) that remain

in effect, to the extent that they have been adopted by the European Union. 

These financial statements are presented in pounds sterling because that is the currency of the primary economic

environment in which the Group operates. 

(a) Basis of preparation
The financial statements have been prepared on the historical cost basis, except for the revaluation of certain financial

instruments. The principal accounting policies adopted are set out below. Where presentational guidance set out in the

Statement of Recommended Practice Financial Statements of Investment Trust Companies (“the SORP”) issued by the

Association of Investment Companies (“the AIC”) in January 2003 (revised in December 2005) is consistent with the

requirements of IFRSs as adopted by the European Union, the directors have sought to prepare the financial statements on

a basis compliant with the recommendations of the SORP.

(b) Basis of consolidation
The consolidated financial statements incorporate the financial statements of the Company and the entity controlled by

the Company (its subsidiary) made up to 31 December each year. Control is achieved where the Company has the power

to govern the financial and operating policies of an investee entity so as to obtain benefits from its activities. All intra-

group transactions, balances, income and expenses are eliminated on consolidation.

(c) Presentation of Income Statement
In order to better reflect the activities of an investment trust company, and in accordance with guidance issued by the AIC,

supplementary information which analyses the Income Statement between items of a revenue and capital nature has been

presented alongside the Income Statement. In accordance with the Company’s status as a UK investment company under

section 266 of the Companies Act 1985, net capital returns may not be distributed by way of dividend. Additionally, the

net revenue is the measure the directors believe appropriate in assessing the Group’s compliance with certain requirements

set out in section 842 of the Income and Corporation Taxes Act 1988.

(d) Income
Dividends receivable on equity shares are recognised as revenue for the year on an ex-dividend basis. Where no ex-

dividend date is available, dividends receivable on or before the year end are treated as revenue for the year. Provision is

made for any dividends not expected to be received. The fixed returns on debt securities and non-equity shares are

recognised on a time apportionment basis so as to reflect the effective yield on the debt securities and shares. Interest

receivable from cash and short term deposits is accrued to the end of the period. Stock lending fees and underwriting

commission are recognised as earned. Where the Group has elected to receive its dividends in the form of additional shares

rather than cash, the amount of cash dividend foregone is recognised as income. Any excess in the value of shares received

over the amount of cash dividend foregone is recognised as a gain in the Income Statement.

(e) Expenses
All expenses and interest payable are accounted for on an accruals basis. Expenses are presented as capital where a

connection with the maintenance or enhancement of the value of the investments can be demonstrated. In this respect

the investment management fees and finance costs are allocated 25% to revenue and 75% to capital to reflect the Board’s

expectations of long term investment returns. Any performance fees payable are allocated wholly to capital, reflecting the

fact that, although they are calculated on a total return basis, they are expected to be attributable largely, if not wholly, to

capital performance.

Transaction costs incurred on the acquisition or disposal of investments are expensed and included in the costs of

acquisition or deducted from the proceeds of sale as appropriate.

(f) Taxation
The tax expense represents the sum of the tax currently payable and deferred tax.

The tax currently payable is based on the taxable profit for the period. Taxable profit differs from net profit as reported in the

Income Statement because it excludes items of income or expense that are taxable or deductible in other years and it further

excludes items that are never taxable or deductible. The Group’s liability for current tax is calculated using tax rates that

were applicable at the balance sheet date.
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Notes to the Accounts
for the year ended 31 December 2007 (continued)

1 Accounting policies (continued)

(f) Taxation (continued)

In line with the recommendations of the SORP, the allocation method used to calculate tax relief on expenses presented

against capital returns in the supplementary information in the Income Statement is the “marginal basis”. Under this basis,

if taxable income is capable of being offset entirely by expenses presented in the revenue return column of the Income

Statement then no tax relief is transferred to the capital return column.

Deferred tax is the tax expected to be payable or recoverable on differences between the carrying amounts of assets and

liabilities in the financial statements and the corresponding tax bases used in the computation of taxable profit, and is

accounted for using the balance sheet liability method. Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for all taxable temporary

differences and deferred tax assets are recognised to the extent that it is probable that taxable profits will be available against

which deductible temporary differences can be utilised. Investment trusts which have approval as such under section 842 of

the Income and Corporation Taxes Act 1988 are not liable for taxation on capital gains.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at each balance sheet date and reduced to the extent that it is no

longer probable that sufficient taxable profits will be available to allow all or part of the asset to be recovered.

Deferred tax is calculated at the tax rates that are expected to apply in the period when the liability is settled or the asset is

realised. Deferred tax is charged or credited in the Income Statement, except when it relates to items charged or credited

directly to equity, in which case the deferred tax is also dealt with in equity.

(g) Investments held at fair value through profit or loss
When a purchase or sale is made under a contract, the terms of which require delivery within the timeframe of the

relevant market, the investments concerned are recognised or derecognised on the trade date. 

All the Group’s investments are defined by IFRSs as adopted by the European Union as investments held at fair value

through profit or loss.

All investments are designated upon initial recognition as held at fair value through profit or loss, and are measured at

subsequent reporting dates at fair value, which is either the bid price or the last traded price, depending on the convention of the

exchange on which the investment is quoted. Investments in unit trusts or OEICs are valued at the closing price, the bid price or

the single price as appropriate, released by the relevant investment manager.

Fair values for unquoted investments, or for investments for which there is only an inactive market, are established by using

various valuation techniques. These may include recent arm’s length market transactions, the current fair value of another

instrument that is substantially the same, discounted cash flow analysis, option pricing models and reference to similar quoted

companies. Where there is a valuation technique commonly used by market participants to price the instrument and that

technique has been demonstrated to provide reliable estimates of prices obtained in actual market transactions, that technique is

utilised. Where no reliable fair value can be estimated for such instruments, they are carried at cost, subject to any provision for

impairment.

(h) Cash and cash equivalents 
Cash comprises cash in hand and demand deposits. Cash equivalents are short-term, highly liquid investments that are

readily convertible to known amounts of cash and that are subject to an insignificant risk of changes in value. 

(i) Dividends payable 
Interim dividends are recognised in the period in which they are paid. Final dividends are not recognised until approved

by the shareholders in general meeting.

(j) Non current liabilities
All debentures and secured bonds are initially recognised at cost, being the fair value of the consideration received, less

issue costs where applicable. After initial recognition, all interest-bearing loans and borrowings are subsequently measured

at amortised cost. Amortised cost is calculated by taking into account any discount or premium on settlement. The costs of

arranging any interest-bearing loans are capitalised and amortised over the life of the loan.

(k) Foreign currency translation 
Transactions involving foreign currencies are converted at the rate ruling at the date of the transaction.

Foreign currency monetary assets and liabilities that are fair valued and denominated in foreign currencies are 

re-translated into sterling at the rate ruling on the balance sheet date. Foreign exchange differences arising on translation 

are recognised in the Income Statement.
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1 Accounting policies (continued)

(l) Accounting developments
At the date of authorisation of these financial statements, the following Standards and Interpretations which have not been

applied in these financial statements were in issue but were not yet effective:

IFRS 8 Operating Segments

IFRIC 11 IFRS 2 – Group and Treasury Share Transactions

IFRIC 12 Service Concession Arrangements

IFRIC 14 IAS 19 – The Limit on a Defined Benefit Asset, Minimum Funding Requirements and their Interaction

The directors anticipate that the adoption of these Standards and Interpretations in future periods will have no material

impact on the financial statements of the Group, except for additional disclosures.

(m) Derivative financial instruments
The Group’s activities expose it primarily to the financial risks of changes in market prices, foreign currency exchange 

rates and interest rates. Derivative transactions which the Company may enter into comprise forward exchange contracts

(the purpose of which is to manage currency risks arising from the Company’s investing activities), quoted options on 

shares held within the portfolio, or on indices appropriate to sections of the portfolio (the purpose of which is to provide

protection against falls in the capital values of the holdings) and futures contracts on indices appropriate to sections of 

the portfolio (one purpose for which may be to provide protection against falls in the capital values of the holdings). The 

Company may also write options on shares represented in the portfolio where such options are priced attractively relative 

to the investment managers’ longer term expectations for the relevant share prices. The Group does not use derivative 

financial instruments for speculative purposes.

The use of financial derivatives is governed by the Group’s policies as approved by the Board, which has set written

principles for the use of financial derivatives.

Changes in the fair value of derivative financial instruments that do not qualify for hedge accounting are recognised in

the Income Statement as they arise. If capital in nature, the associated change in value is presented as a capital item in 

the Income Statement.

Year ended Year ended
31 December 31 December

2007 2006
2 Investment income £’000 £’000

Franked:

UK dividends from listed investments 16,603 17,853

Special dividends from listed investments 391 294

UK dividends from unquoted investments 338 267

17,332 18,414

Unfranked:

Overseas dividends from listed investments 13,531 13,463

Scrip dividends from listed investments 269 414

Special dividends from listed investments 657 180

Overseas fixed interest and convertible bonds 28 12

14,485 14,069

Total investment income 31,817 32,483

Analysis of investment income by geographical segment: 

United Kingdom 17,424 18,452

North America 3,732 4,202

Continental Europe 6,756 6,233

Japan 1,610 1,458

Far East 1,931 1,845

South America 332 258

Other 32 35

Total investment income 31,817 32,483
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Notes to the Accounts
for the year ended 31 December 2007 (continued)

Year ended Year ended
31 December 31 December

2007 2006
3 Other income £’000 £’000

Deposit interest 6,129 5,091

Stock lending income 375 1,319

Underwriting commission 6 28

Income from the subsidiary company’s third party business 1,142 803

Other income 7 35

7,659 7,276

At 31 December 2007 the total value of securities on loan by the Company for stock lending purposes was £124,644,000 

(2006: £99,200,000). The maximum aggregate value of securities on loan at any time during the year ended 31 December 

2007 was £344,485,000 (2006: £269,786,000). Collateral, revalued on a daily basis at a level equivalent to at least 105% of the

market value of the securities lent, was provided against all loans. Collateral in respect of UK securities is usually in the form

of Crest DBVs (Delivery by Values); the content of Crest DBVs is subject to a concentration limit of 10%.

4 Management fees Year ended 31 December 2007 Year ended 31 December 2006
Revenue Capital Total Revenue Capital Total

£’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

Management fees 485 1,453 1,938 413 1,239 1,652

Performance fees – 487 487 – 593 593

Irrecoverable VAT thereon 20 69 89 47 212 259

505 2,009 2,514 460 2,044 2,504

A summary of the terms of the management agreements is given on pages 23 and 24 in the Directors’ Report.

Year ended Year ended
31 December 31 December

2007 2006
5 Other expenses £’000 £’000

Fees payable to the Company’s auditors for the audit of the Company’s annual accounts 44 42
Fees payable to the Company’s auditors and their associates for other services to the Group:

– the audit of the Company’s subsidiary pursuant to legislation 4 3
– other services pursuant to legislation 2 1
– other services relating to taxation 25 1
– other services – 2

Directors’ fees (see the Directors’ Remuneration Report on pages 26 and 27) 193 194
Employers’ national insurance contributions on the directors’ fees 26 20
Employee costs:

– salaries and bonuses 644 600
– employers’ national insurance contributions 83 76
– pension contributions (or payments in lieu thereof) 47 42

Investment accounting fees 202 201
Advisory and consultancy fees 170 134
Company secretarial fees 76 76
Bank charges and overseas safe custody fees 333 391
Marketing expenses 1,975 1,325
Insurances 75 100
Occupancy costs 110 91
Migration of savings scheme (71) 258
Savings scheme expenses 348 539
Third party marketing costs 189 101
Other expenses 616 460
Irrecoverable VAT 341 333

5,432† 4,990†

†The total includes £1,111,000 (2006: £1,033,000) in respect of the subsidiary company’s third party business which are offset
by the subsidiary company’s income from that business.

The average number of employees during the year was 5.0 (2006: 5.0).
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6 Finance costs Year ended 31 December 2007 Year ended 31 December 2006
Revenue Capital Total Revenue Capital Total

£’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

Interest payable on overdrafts 
repayable within one year 11 29 40 25 75 100

Interest payable on the secured bonds and
debenture stock repayable in more than 5 years 2,524 7,571 10,095 2,524 7,572 10,096

Preference share dividends 83 – 83 83 – 83

2,618 7,600 10,218 2,632 7,647 10,279

7 Taxation Year ended 31 December 2007 Year ended 31 December 2006
Revenue Capital Total Revenue Capital Total

£’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

(a) Analysis of the charge for the year
UK corporation tax at 30% (2006: 30%) 1,623 – 1,623 1,675 – 1,675
Double taxation relief (1,623) – (1,623) (1,675) – (1,675)

– – – – – – 
Prior year adjustment – – – 6 – 6
Foreign tax suffered 1,892 – 1,892 2,088 – 2,088
Foreign tax recoverable (278) – (278) (392) – (392)
Tax relief to capital 2,494 (2,494) – 2,410 (2,410) –

Total current tax for the year (see note 7(b)) 4,108 (2,494) 1,614 4,112 (2,410) 1,702

(b) Factors affecting the current tax charge for the year
The tax assessed for the year is lower than that resulting from applying the standard rate of corporation tax in the UK for a

large company (30%). The difference is explained below.
Year ended Year ended

31 December 31 December
2007 2006
£’000 £’000

Profit before taxation 77,646 134,533

Corporation tax at 30% (2006: 30%) 23,294 40,360
Effects of:

Non-taxable UK dividends (5,200) (5,524)
Non-taxable stock dividends (14) (50)
Withholding tax written off 1,614 1,696
Double taxation relief (1,623) (1,675)
Non-taxable gains on investments held at fair value through profit or loss (16,465) (33,764)
Unused loan relationship deficits for the period (8) 386
Disallowed expenses 4 115
Income taxable in different periods (13) 108
Preference dividends not deductible in determining taxable profit 25 25
Losses on subsidiary – 19
Prior year adjustments – 6

(21,680) (38,658)

Current tax charge for the year 1,614 1,702

(c) Deferred tax
Due to the Company’s status as an investment trust, and the intention to continue meeting the conditions required to

obtain approval in the foreseeable future, the Company has not provided deferred tax on any capital gains and losses

arising on the revaluation or disposal of investments. 

No provision has been made for deferred tax on income outstanding at the end of the year as this will be covered by

unrelieved business charges and eligible unrelieved foreign tax (2006: £nil).
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Notes to the Accounts
for the year ended 31 December 2007 (continued)

7 Taxation (continued)

(d) Factors that may affect future tax charges
The Company has not recognised a deferred tax asset of £11,673,000 (2006: £11,614,000) arising as a result of having

unrelieved loan relationship deficits and eligible unrelieved foreign tax. 

It is unlikely that the Company will obtain relief for these in the future so no deferred tax asset has been recognised.

8 Dividends
Year ended Year ended

31 December 31December 
2007 2006
£’000 £’000

Amounts recognised as distributions to equity holders in the year:
Second interim dividend for the year ended 31 December 2006 of 5.30p (2005: 5.00p) per ordinary share 13,694 14,050
First interim dividend for the year ended 31 December 2007 of 4.10p (2006: 3.90p) per ordinary share 10,024 10,189
Write-back of unclaimed dividends relating to prior years (11) (4)

23,707 24,235

Proposed second interim dividend for the year ended 31 December 2007 of 5.80p 
(2006: 5.30p) per ordinary share 12,849 13,694

The proposed second interim dividend has not been included as a liability in these financial statements.

Set out below is the total dividend to be paid in respect of the year. This is the basis on which the requirements of section

842 of the Income and Corporation Taxes Act 1988 are considered. 

Year ended Year ended
31 December 31December 

2007 2006
£’000 £’000

First interim dividend for the year ended 31 December 2007 of 4.10p (2006: 3.90p) per ordinary share 10,024 10,189
Proposed second interim dividend for the year ended 31 December 2007 of 5.80p 

(2006: second interim dividend of 5.30p) per ordinary share 12,849 13,694

22,873 23,883

9 Earnings per ordinary share
The earnings per ordinary share figure is based on the net profit for the year of £76,032,000 (year ended 31 December

2006: £132,831,000) and on 244,901,514 ordinary shares (year ended 31 December 2006: 269,065,426), being the weighted

average number of ordinary shares in issue during the year.

The earnings per ordinary share figure detailed above can be further analysed between revenue and capital, as below. The

Company has no securities in issue that could dilute the return per ordinary share. Therefore the basic and diluted earnings

per ordinary share are the same.

Year ended Year ended
31 December 31December 

2007 2006
£’000 £’000

Net revenue profit 27,137 27,565

Net capital profit 48,895 105,266

Net total profit 76,032 132,831

Weighted average number of ordinary shares in issue during the year 244,901,514 269,065,426

Pence Pence

Revenue earnings per ordinary share 11.08 10.24

Capital earnings per ordinary share 19.97 39.13

Total earnings per ordinary share 31.05 49.37
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10 Investments held at fair value through profit or loss
(i) Analysis of investments held at fair value through profit or loss

Group Company Group Company
2007 2007 2006 2006
£’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

Listed in the United Kingdom 433,686 433,686 607,318 607,318

Listed abroad 808,600 808,600 733,749 733,749

Loan note at directors’ valuation (see note 10(v)) 29,093 29,093 36,420 36,420

Unquoted at directors’ valuation (see note 10(v)) 4,975 4,975 5,067 5,067

Investment in subsidiary undertaking – 986 – 754

1,276,354 1,277,340 1,382,554 1,383,308

(ii) Group changes in investments held at fair value through profit or loss
Valuation Net Valuation Cost

31 December (depreciation)/ 31 December 31 December
2006 Purchases Sales appreciation 2007 2007
£’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

United Kingdom 648,805 325,159 422,565 (83,644) 467,755 393,407
North America 299,955 158,001 256,695 91,685 292,946 281,880
Continental Europe 220,641 126,538 134,024 17,387 230,542 197,266
Japan 116,419 69,418 49,838 2,366 138,365 143,319
Far East 84,815 142,011 122,532 25,071 129,365 113,146
South America 11,919 5,738 127 (2,225) 15,305 11,631
Other – 1,966 211 321 2,076 1,836

1,382,554 828,831 985,992 50,961 1,276,354 1,142,485

Included in the above figures are purchase costs of £1,163,000 (2006: £1,695,000) and sales costs of £531,000 (2006:

£836,000). These comprise mainly stamp duty and commission.

(iii) Gains on investments held at fair value though profit or loss
Year ended Year ended 

31 December 31December 
2007 2006
£’000 £’000

Realised gains on sale of investments 180,459 158,050

Movement in unrealised appreciation (125,181) (43,973)

Net movement on foreign exchange (394) (1,530)

54,884 112,547

(iv) Substantial share interests
The Company has no interests of 3% or more of any class of capital in any investee companies. 

(v) Unquoted investments
The value of the unquoted investments as at 31 December 2007 was £34,068,000 (2006: £41,487,000) and the portfolio

comprised the following three holdings:

Valuation

Investments £’000

UBS Loan Note 29,093

Cazenove Group Limited 4,375

Cazenove Capital Holdings Limited 600

4,975

34,068

The capital value of the UBS Loan Note rises and falls with the return on the Mellon
Offshore Enhanced Currency Opportunity Fund. It pays no income. The Loan Note
matures on 31 December 2011 but can be redeemed on the last business day of each
calendar month prior to the maturity date. The Loan Note is valued monthly.

Cazenove Group Limited (formerly Cazenove Group plc) (“Cazenove”) was established
by the partners of Cazenove & Co. to incorporate the business of that firm, to raise
additional capital and to seek a stock market quotation in due course. It has since
combined its investment banking business with that of JP Morgan to form JP Morgan
Cazenove. Its asset management business has been transferred to a separate entity,
Cazenove Capital Holdings Limited.
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Group Company Group Company
2007 2007 2006 2006

11 Other receivables £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

Sales for future settlement 786 786 2,852 2,852

Unrealised gain on derivatives designated as held at

fair value through profit or loss 1,016 1,016 – –

Taxation recoverable 600 600 378 378

Intercompany account – 333 – 139

Prepayments and accrued income 2,225 2,219 2,686 2,683

Other debtors 2,115 1,671 452 91

6,742 6,625 6,368 6,143

Group Company Group Company
2007 2007 2006 2006

12 Other payables £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

Purchases for future settlement 974 974 2,161 2,161

Share buy-backs awaiting settlement 964 964 1,978 1,978

Unrealised loss on derivatives designated as held at

fair value through profit or loss – – 272 272

Preference dividends 38 38 38 38

Accruals 3,301 2,942 3,721 3,574

5,277 4,918 8,170 8,023

Group Company Group Company
2007 2007 2006 2006

13 Non current liabilities £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

Financial instruments redeemable other than in instalments 

are as follows: 

81⁄2 per cent. Debenture Stock 2016 45,779 45,779 45,779 45,779

6.125 per cent. Secured Bonds due 2025 98,573 98,573 98,494 98,494

2,055,000 3.4 per cent. cumulative preference shares 

of £1 (see note 17) 2,055 2,055 2,055 2,055

500,000 2.7 per cent. cumulative preference shares of 

£1 (see note 17) 500 500 500 500

146,907 146,907 146,828 146,828

On 15 December 2000 the Company issued £100,000,000 (nominal) 6.125 per cent. Secured Bonds due 2025, net of discount

and issue costs totalling approximately £2,000,000. The discount and the issue costs will be written back over the life of the

Secured Bonds. The nominal value of the Secured Bonds is redeemable on 15 December 2025. The nominal value of the

Debenture Stock is redeemable on 1 October 2016. The Debenture Stock and the Secured Bonds are secured by floating

charges over all the undertaking and assets of the Company. The security of the charges applies pari passu to both issues.

14 Financial instruments
Risk management policies and procedures
As an investment company, Witan invests in equities and other investments for the long term so as to secure its investment

objective as stated on page 1. In pursuing its investment objective, the Company is exposed to a variety of risks that could

result in either a reduction in the Company’s net assets or a reduction in the profits available for distribution by way of

dividends.

These risks, market risk (comprising price risk, currency risk and interest rate risk), liquidity risk and credit risk, and the

directors’ approach to the management of them, are set out below. 

The objectives, policies and processes for managing the risks and the methods used to manage the risks, as set out below, have

not changed from the previous accounting period, although in some instances additional resources have been allocated to some

areas.
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14.1 Market risk
The fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument held by the Company may fluctuate due to changes in market

prices. This market risk comprises: price risk (see note 14.2), currency risk (see note 14.3) and interest rate risk (see note

14.4). The Board of directors reviews and agrees policies for managing these risks, which policies have remained substantially

unchanged from those applying in the year ended 31 December 2006. The investment managers assess the exposure to

market risk when making each investment decision and monitor the overall level of market risk on the whole of their

investment portfolios on an ongoing basis.

14.2 Price risk
Price risks (ie changes in market prices other than those arising from interest rate risk or currency risk) may affect the value

of the quoted and the unquoted investments.

Management of the risk

The Board of directors manages the risks inherent in the investment portfolios by ensuring full and timely access to relevant

information from the investment managers. The Board meets regularly and at each meeting reviews investment

performance. The Board monitors the managers’ compliance with their mandates and also whether each mandate and asset

allocation is compatible with Witan’s objective.

When appropriate, Witan has the ability to manage its exposure to risk by buying/selling put or call options on indices and

on equity investments in its portfolios.

The Company’s exposure to other changes in market prices at 31 December on its quoted and unquoted equity investments,

and on options on indices and investments, was as follows:

2007 2006
£’000 £’000

Investments held at fair value through profit or loss 1,276,354 1,382,554

Concentration of exposure to price risks

An analysis of the Company’s investment portfolio is shown on page 18. This shows that the greater geographical weighting

is to UK companies, with significant exposure also to North America, Continental Europe and Japan. Accordingly, there is a

concentration of exposure to those regions, although an investment’s country of domicile or of listing does not necessarily

equate to its exposure to the economic conditions in that country.

Price risk sensitivity
The following table illustrates the sensitivity of the profit after taxation for the year and the value of the shareholders’ funds

to an increase or decrease of 15% in the fair values of the Company’s equity investments (including equity exposure through

options). This level of change is considered to be reasonably possible based on observation of market conditions and historic

trends. The sensitivity analysis is based on the Company’s equities and equity exposure through options at each balance

sheet date, with all other variables held constant.

2007 2007 2006 2006
Increase Decrease Increase Decrease 

in fair value in fair value in fair value in fair value
£’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

Income statement – profit after tax

Revenue return (57) 57 (44) 44

Capital return 191,315 (191,315) 207,216 (207,216)

Change to the profit after tax for the year 191,258 (191,258) 207,172 (207,172)

Change to the shareholders’ funds 191,258 (191,258) 207,172 (207,172)
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14 Financial instruments (continued)

14.3 Currency risk
A proportion of the Company’s assets, liabilities and income are denominated in currencies other than sterling (the

Company’s functional currency, and the currency in which it reports its results). As a consequence, movements in exchange

rates may affect the sterling value of those items. In addition, the Board has appointed a currency manager which aims to

add value by taking positions in currencies and which therefore has an impact of fund values.

Management of the risk

The investment managers and the currency manager monitor their exposure to currencies as part of their normal investment

processes. The Board receives a monthly report on the currency exposures of the entire fund.

Income denominated in foreign currencies is converted into sterling at the end of each month. The Company does not use

financial instruments to mitigate the currency exposure in the period between the time that income is included in the

financial statements and its receipt.

Foreign currency exposure

With the exception of the underlying exposures held within the currency loan note, the fair values of the Company’s

monetary items that have foreign currency exposure at 31 December are shown below. Where the Company’s equity

investments (which are not monetary items) are denominated in a foreign currency, they have been included separately in

the analysis so as to show the overall level of exposure.

US$ Euro Yen Other
2007 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

Receivables (due from brokers, dividends and other income receivable) 240 925 67 463
Cash at bank and on deposit 2,435 2,256 349 1,002
Payables (due to brokers, accruals and other creditors) – (638) (97) (229)

Total foreign currency exposure on net monetary items 2,675 2,543 319 1,236
Investments at fair value through profit or loss that are equities 217,468 191,446 138,365 184,744

Total net foreign currency exposure 220,143 193,989 138,684 185,980

US$ Euro Yen Other
2006 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

Receivables (due from brokers, dividends and other income receivable) 581 978 367 726 

Cash at bank and on deposit 8,055 3,421 702 1,905 

Payables (due to brokers, accruals and other creditors) (10) (1,626) – (101)

Total foreign currency exposure on net monetary items 8,626 2,773 1,069 2,530 

Investments at fair value through profit or loss that are equities 293,840 181,893 116,420 143,238 

Total net foreign currency exposure 302,466 184,666 117,489 145,768 

The above amounts are not representative of the exposure to risk during the year as levels of monetary foreign currency

exposure change significantly throughout the year. The maximum and minimum net monetary assets/(liabilities) for each

currency based on month end figures were as follows (excluding the underlying exposure held within the currency loan note):

US$ Euro Yen Other
Year ended 31 December 2007 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

Maximum 315,020 200,042 141,614 203,022 
Minimum 206,979 168,813 119,628 129,486 

US$ Euro Yen Other
Year ended 31 December 2006 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

Maximum 337,046 184,666 143,058 170,763

Minimum 287,123 164,553 116,617 132,950 
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Foreign currency sensitivity 
The following table illustrates the sensitivity of the profit after tax for the year and the Company’s equity in regard to the

Company’s monetary financial assets and financial liabilities and the exchange rates for the £/US dollar, £/Euro and

£/Japanese yen.

It assumes the following changes in exchange rates:

£/US dollar +/- 10% (2006: 10%)

£/Euro +/- 7% (2006: 7%)

£/Japanese yen +/- 10% (2006: 10%)

These percentages have been determined by taking in each case the highest range seen in each of the last seven calendar

years. The sensitivity analysis is based on the Company’s monetary foreign currency financial instruments held at the

balance sheet date and takes account of forward foreign exchange contracts that offset the effects of changes in currency

exchange rates.

If sterling had depreciated against the currencies shown, this would have had the following effect: 

2007 2006
US$ Euro Yen US$ Euro Yen

£’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

Income statement – profit after tax 

Revenue return 260 306 108 414 262 101 

Capital return 24,179 14,457 15,353 32,726 13,712 12,926

Change to the profit after tax 24,439 14,763 15,461 33,140 13,974 13,027

Change to the shareholders’ funds 24,439 14,763 15,461 33,140 13,974 13,027

If sterling had appreciated against the currencies shown, this would have had the following effect:

2007 2006
US$ Euro Yen US$ Euro Yen

£’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

Income statement – profit after tax

Revenue return (213) (266) (88) (338) (228) (83)

Capital return (19,783) (12,565) (12,563) (26,763) (11,918) (10,575)

Change to the profit after tax (19,996) (12,831) (12,651) (27,101) (12,146) (10,658)

Change to the shareholders’ funds (19,996) (12,831) (12,651) (27,101) (12,146) (10,658)

In the opinion of the directors, neither of the above sensitivity analyses are representative of the year as a whole since the

level of exposure changes frequently, as part of the currency risk management process used to meet the Company’s objective.

14.4 Interest rate risk
Interest rate movements may affect:

– the fair value of investments of fixed interest securities;

– the level of income receivable from fixed interest securities and cash at bank and on deposit.

Management of the risk

The possible effects on fair value and cash flows that could arise as a result of changes in interest rates are taken into account

when making investment decisions.

The Company did not hold any fixed interest securities over the year.

The Company holds significant cash balances, partially to meet payments as they fall due but also to offset the long term

borrowings that it has in place.

The Company finances part of its activities through preference shares (that do not have redemption dates) and through

debenture stock and secured bonds that were issued as part of the Company’s planned gearing.

Derivative contracts are not used to hedge against the exposure to interest rate risk.
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Interest rate exposure
The exposure at 31 December 2007 of financial assets and financial liabilities to interest rate risk is shown by reference to:

– floating interest rates: when the interest rate is due to be re-set;

– fixed interest rates: when the financial instrument is due be repaid.

The Company’s exposure to floating interest rates on assets is £88,394,000 (2006: £114,610,000). 

The Company’s exposure to fixed interest rates on liabilities is £146,907,000 (2006: £146,828,000).

Interest receivable and finance costs are at the following rates:

– interest received on cash balances, or paid on bank overdrafts, is at margin over LIBOR or its foreign currency equivalent

(2006: same);

– the finance charge on the preference shares is at a weighted average interest rate of 3.3% (2006: 3.3%);

– the finance charge on the debenture stock is at a weighted average interest rate of 8.5% (2006: 8.5%);

– the finance charge on the secured bonds is at a weighted average interest rate of 6.2% (2006: 6.2%).

The above year end amounts are not representative of the exposure to interest rates during the year, as the level of exposure

changes as investments are made in fixed interest securities, borrowings are drawn down and repaid, and the mix of

borrowings between floating and fixed interest rate changes. The maximum and minimum amounts subject to interest rate

exposures are shown below.

2007 2006
Within More than Within More than

one year one year Total one year one year Total
£’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

Assets: (floating rates)
Maximum interest rate exposure 209,532 – 209,532 152,104 – 152,104 

Minimum interest rate exposure 48,067 – 48,067 46,966 – 46,966 

Liabilities: (fixed rates)
Maximum interest rate exposure – 146,907 146,907 – 146,828 146,828 

Minimum interest rate exposure – 146,828 146,828 – 146,748 146,748 

Interest rate sensitivity
Based on the Company’s monetary financial instruments at each balance sheet date, an increase or decrease of 200 basis

points in interest rates would increase or decrease revenue return after tax by £1,238,000 (2006: £1,605,000); capital return

after tax by £530,000 (2006: £687,000), and total profit after tax and shareholders funds by £1,768,000 (2006: £2,292,000).

This level of change is considered to be reasonably possible based on observation of current market conditions. This is not

representative of the year as a whole, since the exposure changes as investments are made.

14.5 Liquidity risk
This is the risk that the Company will encounter difficulty in meeting obligations associated with its financial liabilities.

Management of the risk

Liquidity risk is not significant as the majority of the Company’s assets are investments in quoted equities and other quoted

securities that are readily realisable. 

The Board gives guidance to the investment managers as to the maximum amount of the Company’s resources that should

be invested in any one company. The policy is that the Company should remain fully invested in normal market conditions

and that short term borrowings be used to manage short term cash requirements.

Notes to the Accounts
for the year ended 31 December 2007 (continued)
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Liquidity risk exposure
The remaining contractual maturities of the financial liabilities at 31 December 2007, based on the earliest date on which

payment can be required, was as follows:

2007 2006
3 months More than 3 months More than

or less one year Total or less one year Total
£’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

Current liabilities
Amounts due to brokers and accruals 5,277 – 5,277 7,898 – 7,898 

Unrealised loss on derivatives contracts – – – 272 – 272 

Non current liabilities
Preference shares – 2,555 2,555 – 2,555 2,555 

Debenture stock – 45,779 45,779 – 45,779 45,779 

Secured bonds – 98,573 98,573 – 98,494 98,494 

5,277 146,907 152,184 8,170 146,828 154,998

14.6 Credit risk
The failure of the counterparty to a transaction to discharge its obligations under that transaction could result in the

Company suffering a loss. The Company’s stock lending programme increases the exposure to counterparty risk.

Management of the risk

The risk is not significant and is managed as follows:

– where an investment manager makes an investment in a bond, corporate or otherwise, the credit rating of the issuer is

taken into account so as to determine the risk to the Company of default;

– transactions involving derivatives are entered into only with investment banks, the credit rating of which is taken into

account so as to minimise the risk to the Company of default;

– investment transactions are carried out with a large number of brokers, whose credit standard is reviewed periodically by

the investment managers, and limits are set on the amount that may be due from any one broker;

– cash at bank is held only with reputable banks with high quality external credit ratings.

None of the Company’s financial assets or liabilities are secured by collateral or other credit enhancements.

In summary, compared to the amounts included in the balance sheet, the maximum exposure to credit risk at 31 December

2007 was as follows:
2007 2006

Balance Maximum Balance Maximum
sheet exposure sheet exposure
£’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

Investments at fair value through profit or loss 1,276,354 1,513,337 1,382,554 1,476,049 

Current assets:

Other receivables (amounts due from brokers, dividends and 

interest receivable) 6,732 16,411 6,368 28,103

Cash at bank and on deposit 88,394 209,532 114,610 152,104 

1,371,480 1,739,280 1,503,532 1,656,256

None of the Company’s financial liabilities are past their due dates or impaired.

14.7 Fair values of financial assets and financial liabilities
Except for those financial liabilities measured at amortised cost that are shown below, the fair values of the financial assets

and financial liabilities are either carried in the balance sheet at their fair value (investments and derivatives) or the balance

sheet amount is a reasonable approximation of fair value (amounts due from brokers, dividends and interest receivable,

amounts due to brokers, accruals, cash at bank and bank overdrafts).
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14 Financial instruments (continued)
2007 2006

Fair Balance sheet Fair Balance sheet
value amount value amount
£’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

Financial liabilities measured at amortised cost:

Non current liabilities
Preference shares 1,362 2,555 1,531 2,555 

Debenture stock 55,169 45,779 57,227 45,779 

Secured bonds 107,857 98,573 110,964 98,494 

164,388 146,907 169,722 146,828 

The fair values shown above are derived from the offer price at which the securities are quoted on the London Stock Exchange.

Note 1(g) on page 40 sets out the Board’s policy for determining the fair values of the unquoted investments. The directors

are of the opinion that changing one or more of those assumptions to reasonably possible alternative assumptions would

not change those fair values significantly. The amount of change in fair value for such investments recognised in the profit

or loss for the year was a loss of £7,419,000 (2006: profit of £2,091,000).

Capital management policies and procedures
The Company’s capital management objectives are:

– to ensure that it will be able to continue as a going concern; and

– to maximise the income and capital return to its equity shareholders

through an appropriate balance of equity capital and “debt”. The policy is that debt as shown below should be between nil

and 15% of the Company’s total equity.

The Company’s total capital at 31 December 2007 was £1,366,213,000 (2006: £1,495,362,000) comprising £146,907,000 of

debt (2006: £146,828,000) and £1,219,306,000 of equity share capital and other reserves (2006: £1,348,534,000). The

Company’s debt as a percentage of total capital was 11% (2006: 10%).

The Board monitors and reviews the broad structure of the Company’s capital on an ongoing basis. This review includes:

– the planned level of gearing, which takes into account the Chief Executive Officer’s view on the market;

– the need to buy back equity shares for cancellation, which takes account of the difference between the net asset value per

share and the share price (ie the level of share price discount or premium);

– the extent to which revenue in excess of that which is required to be distributed should be retained.

The Company’s objectives, policies and processes for managing capital are unchanged from the preceding accounting period.

The Company is subject to several externally imposed capital requirements:

– the terms of issue of the Company’s debenture stock and secured bonds require the aggregate amount outstanding in

respect of borrowings, measured in accordance with the policies used to prepare the annual financial statements, not to

exceed a sum equal to the Company’s capital and reserves at any time;

– as a public company, the Company has a minimum issued share capital of £50,000;

– in order to be able to pay dividends out of profits available for distribution by way of dividends, the Company has to be

able to meet one of the two capital restriction tests imposed on investment companies by company law.

These requirements are unchanged since the previous year end and the Company has complied with them.

Group and Group and
Company Company

2007 2006
15 Called up share capital £’000 £’000

223,426,499 ordinary shares of 25p (2006: 260,772,887) 55,857 65,193

Allotted, called up and fully paid 55,857 65,193

166,353,501 unissued ordinary shares of 25p (2006: 129,007,113) 41,588 32,252

Authorised 97,445 97,445

During the year 37,346,388 ordinary shares were bought back for cancellation at a cost of £181,553,000 (2006: 34,215,264 

at a cost of £144,979,000).
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Other Other
Share Capital capital capital 

premium redemption reserve reserve Revenue
account reserve – realised – unrealised reserve

16 Share premium and reserves £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

Group
At 1 January 2007 16,237 28,633 932,531 260,066 45,874

Net movement on investments – – 180,459 (125,181) –

Net movement on foreign exchange – – (394) – –

Expenses and interest payable charged to capital net of tax relief – – (5,989) – –

Buy-backs of ordinary shares – 9,336 (181,553) – –

Profit for the year – – – – 27,137

Ordinary dividends paid – – – – (23,707)

At 31 December 2007 16,237 37,969 925,054 134,885 49,304

Company
At 1 January 2007 16,237 28,633 932,531 259,920 46,020

Net movement on investments – – 180,459 (124,949) –

Net movement on foreign exchange – – (394) – –

Expenses and interest payable charged to capital net of tax relief – – (5,989) – –

Buy-backs of ordinary shares – 9,336 (181,553) – –

Profit for the year – – – – 26,905

Ordinary dividends paid – – – – (23,707)

At 31 December 2007 16,237 37,969 925,054 134,971 49,218

Company revenue account
As permitted by section 230 of the Companies Act 1985, the Company has not presented its own income statement. The amount

of Company revenue before appropriations dealt with in the accounts of the Group is £26,905,000 (2006: £27,629,000).

17 Preference shares
Included in non current liabilities is £2,555,000 in respect of issued preference shares as follows:

Group and Group and
Company Company

2007 2006
£’000 £’000

2,055,000 3.4 per cent. cumulative preference shares of £1 2,055 2,055

500,000 2.7 per cent. cumulative preference shares of £1 500 500

2,555 2,555

The 3.4 per cent. and 2.7 per cent. cumulative preference shares constitute a single class and confer the right, in priority to

any other class of shares:

(i) to receive a fixed cumulative preferential dividend at the respective rates (exclusive of tax credit thereon) of 3.4 per

cent. and 2.7 per cent. per annum, such dividend being payable half-yearly on 15 January and 15 July in each year, in

respect of the 3.4 per cent. cumulative preference shares, and on 1 February and 1 August in each year, in respect of the

2.7 per cent. cumulative preference shares; and

(ii) to receive repayment of capital at par in a winding up of the Company (but do not confer any further right to

participate in profits or assets).

The preference shareholders are entitled to receive notices of general meetings of the Company but are not entitled to

attend or vote thereat (except on a resolution for the voluntary liquidation of the Company or for any alteration to the

objects of the Company as set out in its Memorandum of Association).
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17 Preference shares (continued)

In the event of a poll at a general meeting of the Company, every member of the Company who is present in person or by

proxy and who is entitled to vote thereat, whether an ordinary shareholder or, in the circumstances outlined above, a

preference shareholder, has one vote for every £1 nominal value of shares registered in their name. Accordingly, on a poll

each ordinary shareholder has one vote for every four shares held.

18 Net asset value per ordinary share
The net asset value per ordinary share is based on the net assets attributable to the ordinary shares of £1,219,306,000

(2006: £1,348,534,000) and on the 223,426,499 ordinary shares in issue at 31 December 2007 (2006: 260,772,887).

The movements during the year of the net assets attributable to the ordinary shares were as follows:

£’000

Total net assets at 1 January 2007 1,348,534

Total profit for the year 76,032

Dividends paid in the year on the ordinary shares (see note 8) (23,707)

Buy-backs of ordinary shares (181,553)

Net assets attributable to the ordinary shares at 31 December 2007 1,219,306

An alternative net asset value per ordinary share can be calculated by deducting from the total assets less current liabilities

of the Company the preference shares, the debenture stock and the secured bonds at their market (or fair) values rather

than at their par (or book) values. Details of the alternative values are set out in note 14.7. The net asset value per ordinary

share at 31 December 2007 calculated on this basis is 537.9p (2006: 508.4p).

19 Note to the cash flow statement

Purchases and sales of investments are considered to be operating activities of the Company, given its purpose, rather than

investing activities. However, the cash flows associated with these activities are presented below.
Group and Group and

Company Company
Year ended Year ended

31 December 31 December
2007 2006
£’000 £’000

Proceeds on disposal of fair value through profit or loss investments 988,058 709,505

Purchases of fair value through profit or loss investments (829,749) (533,997)

158,309 175,508

20 Capital commitments and contingent liabilities
At 31 December 2007 there were capital commitments in respect of securities not fully paid up of £nil (2006: £nil) and

underwriting liabilities of £nil (2006: £nil). In November 2005 the Company took a five year lease on office premises at

14 Queen Anne’s Gate, London SW1 which expires in 2010. The Company has the right to terminate the lease after the

first three years of the lease.

21 Operating lease arrangements Year ended Year ended
31 December 31 December

2007 2006
£’000 £’000

Minimum lease payments under operating leases recognised for the year 58 58

At the balance sheet date, the Group had outstanding commitments for the future minimum lease payments under non-

cancellable operating leases, which fall due as follows:
2007 2006
£’000 £’000

Within one year 58 58

In the second to fifth years inclusive 109 167

167 225

The operating lease payments represent rentals payable by the Group for its office property.

The lease was negotiated for a term of five years and rentals are fixed for an average of five years.
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22 Subsidiary undertaking
The Company has an investment in the issued ordinary share capital of its wholly owned subsidiary undertaking, Witan

Investment Services Limited, which was incorporated on 28 October 2004, is registered in England and Wales and operates

in the United Kingdom.

Transactions between the Company and its subsidiary, which are related parties, have been eliminated on consolidation and

are not disclosed in this note.

23 Segment Reporting 
Geographical segments 
Geographical segments are considered to be the primary reporting segment. An analysis of investment income by

geographical segment is set out in note 2 on page 41. Analyses of expenses by geographical segment and of profit by

geographical segment have not been given as it is not possible to prepare such information in a meaningful way. An 

analysis of the investments by geographical segment is set out in note 10 on page 45. Analyses of the remaining assets 

and liabilities by geographical region have not been given as either it is not possible to prepare such information in a

meaningful way or the results are not considered to be significant. 

Business segments 
Business segments are considered to be the secondary reporting segment. The Group has two business segments: (i) its

activity as an investment trust, which is the business of the parent company, Witan Investment Trust plc, and recorded 

in the accounts of that company; and (ii) the provision of executive and marketing management services and the

management of savings schemes, which is the business of the subsidiary company, Witan Investment Services Limited, 

and recorded in the accounts of that company.

Year ended 31 December 2007 Year ended 31 December 2006
Investment Management Investment Management

trust services trust services
£’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

Revenue from external customers 38,334 1,142 38,956 803

Carrying amount of assets 1,218,320 986 1,347,780 754

24 Value Added Tax
In 2004 the Association of Investment Companies (the “AIC”), together with JPMorgan Claverhouse Investment Trust plc,

launched a case against HM Revenue & Customs (“HMRC”) to challenge whether Value Added Tax (“VAT”) should have

been charged on fees paid for management services provided to investment trust companies. On 28 June 2007 the European

Court of Justice delivered its judgement on the case in favour of the AIC. Since then HMRC has accepted that the provision of

investment management services to investment trust companies is VAT exempt and has acknowledged its liability to pay claims

in respect of VAT borne by investment companies. 

Henderson Global Investors Limited (“Henderson”), which was the Company’s sole investment manager until 2004 and has

been one of the Company’s investment managers since 2004, will now be able to reclaim from HMRC the amount of VAT

charged to the Company in respect of investment management services from 1 October 2000 to 30 June 2007, to the extent

that such VAT was paid by Henderson to HMRC. VAT has not been applied to investment management fees invoiced in respect

of periods since June 2007. Similarly, the Company will be able to recover VAT paid in respect of its other investment

management contracts.

Accordingly, some of the VAT borne by the Company on investment management fees invoiced in the period from

1 October 2000 to 30 June 2007 has been written back. The Board is satisfied that an amount of £1,450,000 is certain to be

recovered but considers that there are currently too many uncertainties to allow any reasonable estimate of the further

amounts potentially recoverable to be calculated. The write-back has been allocated between revenue return and capital

return according to the allocation of the amounts originally paid. The Company will receive any interest paid by HMRC on

the amounts eventually recovered.
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(e) the Company may make a contract to purchase Ordinary
Shares under the authority hereby conferred prior to the expiry
of such authority which will or may be executed wholly or
partly after the expiration of such authority and may make a
purchase of Ordinary Shares pursuant to any such contract.

as a Special Resolution
12 THAT the Company be generally and unconditionally

authorised to make market purchases (within the meaning
of section 163 (3) of the Act) of 3.4 per cent Cumulative
Preference Shares of £1 each and 2.7 per cent Cumulative
Preference Shares of £1 each in the capital of the Company
(“Preference Shares”), provided that:

(a) the maximum number of Preference Shares hereby
authorised to be purchased shall be the entire issued capital
amount of the Preference Stock as at 6 March 2008, the date
of this Notice of Annual General Meeting, being (i)
2,055,000 of the 3.4 per cent Cumulative Preference Shares
of £1 each and (ii) 500,000 of the 2.7 per cent Cumulative
Preference Shares of £1 each; 

(b) the minimum price (exclusive of expenses) which may
be paid for a Preference Share is £1;

(c) the maximum price (exclusive of expenses) which may be
paid for a Preference Share is an amount equal to 105% of
the average middle market quotations for the relevant
Preference Share taken from the London Stock Exchange
Daily Official List for the business day immediately
preceding the day on which the Company agrees to purchase
the relevant Preference Share, or such other amount as may
be specified by the UK Listing Authority from time to time;

(d) the authority hereby conferred will expire at the
conclusion of the Annual General Meeting of the Company
in 2009 or, if earlier, on the expiry of 18 months from the
passing of this resolution, unless such authority is renewed,
varied or revoked prior to such time; and

(e) the Company may make a contract to purchase
Preference Shares under the authority hereby conferred prior
to the expiry of such authority which will or may be
executed wholly or partly after the expiration of such
authority and may make a purchase of Preference Shares
pursuant to any such contract.

By order of the Board
G S Rice 
For and on behalf of
Henderson Secretarial Services Limited,
Secretary
6 March 2008

Registered Office
4 Broadgate
London EC2M 2DA
Telephone: 020 7638 5757

Registered as an investment company in England and Wales
No. 101625

Notice is hereby given that the one hundredth Annual General
Meeting of Witan Investment Trust plc will be held at Merchant
Taylors’ Hall, 30 Threadneedle Street, London EC2R 8JB on
Monday 28 April 2008 at 2.30 pm for the following purposes:

Ordinary Business 
1 To receive the directors’ report and the audited accounts for

the year ended 31 December 2007.

2 To receive and approve the directors’ remuneration report
for the year ended 31 December 2007.

3 To re-elect Mr A Watson as a director of the Company.

4 To re-elect Mr R A Bruce as a director of the Company.

5 To re-elect Mr H M Henderson as a director of the Company.

6 To re-elect Mr A W Jones as a director of the Company.

7 To re-elect Mr R H McGrath as a director of the Company.

8 To re-appoint Deloitte & Touche LLP as auditors to the
Company.

9 To authorise the directors to determine the remuneration of
the auditors.

Special Business 
To consider and, if thought fit, pass the following resolutions:

as a Special Resolution
10 THAT the Articles of Association contained in the document

produced to the meeting and signed by the Chairman for
the purposes of identification be approved and adopted as
the new Articles of Association of the Company in
substitution for, and to the exclusion of, the existing
Articles of Association, with effect from the conclusion of
the 2008 Annual General Meeting.

as a Special Resolution
11 THAT the Company be generally and unconditionally

authorised to make market purchases (within the meaning
of section 163 (3) of the Act) of ordinary shares of 25p each
in the capital of the Company (“Ordinary Shares”),
provided that:

(a) the maximum number of Ordinary Shares hereby
authorised to be purchased shall be 33,208,099
(representing approximately 14.99% of the issued ordinary
share capital of the Company at 6 March 2008, the date of
this Notice of Annual General Meeting);

(b) the minimum price (exclusive of expenses) which may
be paid for an Ordinary Share is 25p;

(c) the maximum price (exclusive of expenses) which may
be paid for an Ordinary Share is an amount equal to 105%
of the average middle market quotations for an Ordinary
Share taken from the London Stock Exchange Daily Official
List for the five business days immediately preceding the
day on which the Company agrees to purchase an Ordinary
Share, or such other amount as may be specified by the UK
Listing Authority from time to time;

(d) the authority hereby conferred will expire at the
conclusion of the Annual General Meeting of the Company
in 2009 or, if earlier, on the expiry of 18 months from the
passing of this resolution, unless such authority is renewed,
varied or revoked prior to such time; and
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Notes

1 Only those ordinary shareholders registered in the
register of members of the Company at close of
business on Saturday 26 April 2008 (or, if the Meeting is
adjourned, at close of business on the day which is two
days prior to the adjourned Meeting) shall be entitled
to attend and vote at the Annual General Meeting (“the
Meeting”) in respect of the number of shares registered
in their name at that time. Changes to entries on the
relevant register of securities after close of business on
26 April 2008 will be disregarded in determining the
rights of any person to attend or vote (and the number
of votes they may cast) at the Meeting or adjourned
Meeting.

2 An ordinary shareholder entitled to attend and vote at
the Meeting may appoint one or more proxies (who
need not be a member of the Company) to exercise all
or any of his or her rights to attend, speak and vote at
the Meeting, provided that each proxy is appointed to
exercise the rights attaching to different shares held by
the ordinary shareholder.

If two or more valid proxy forms are delivered or
received in respect of the same share for use at the same
Meeting, the one which was last sent shall be treated as
replacing and revoking the others in their entirety. If
the Company is unable to determine the one which
was last sent, none of them shall be valid in respect of
that share.

Every ordinary shareholder who is present in person at
a general meeting of the Company, and every person
(not being himself or herself a member entitled to vote)
who is present as proxy for a member entitled to vote,
shall have one vote on a show of hands. On a poll,
every ordinary shareholder who is present in person or
by proxy shall have one vote for every £1 nominal
value of shares held by him or her. Accordingly, on a
poll each ordinary shareholder has one vote for every
four shares held.

3 A form of proxy is enclosed. To be valid the form of
proxy must be completed and delivered to the office of
the Registrar to the Company not less than 48 hours
before the time appointed for holding the Meeting. The
form of proxy should be returned in an envelope
addressed to Computershare Investor Services PLC, The
Pavilions, Bridgwater Road, Bristol BS13 8FB. The return
of the form of proxy duly completed will not preclude a
member from attending and voting in person at the
Meeting.

CREST members who wish to appoint a proxy or
proxies by utilising the CREST electronic proxy
appointment service may do so by utilising the
procedures described in the CREST Manual. CREST
Personal Members or other CREST sponsored members,
and those CREST members who have appointed a
voting service provider(s), should refer to their CREST
sponsor or voting service provider(s), who will be able
to take the appropriate action on their behalf. In order
for a proxy appointment made by means of CREST to
be valid, the appropriate CREST message (a “CREST
Proxy Instruction”) must be properly authenticated in
accordance with Euroclear UK & Ireland Limited's (EUI)

specifications and must contain the information
required for such instructions, as described in the
CREST Manual. The message regardless of whether it
constitutes the appointment of a proxy or an
amendment to the instruction given to a previously
appointed proxy must, in order to be valid, be
transmitted so as to be received by the Company’s
agent (ID number 3RA50) by not later than 48 hours
before the time appointed for the holding of the
meeting (i.e. by 2.30 pm on Saturday 26 April 2008).
For this purpose, the time of receipt will be taken to be
the time (as determined by the timestamp applied to
the message by the CREST Applications Host) from
which the Company’s agent is able to retrieve the
message by enquiry to CREST in the manner prescribed
by CREST. The Company may treat as invalid a CREST
Proxy Instruction in the circumstances set out in
Regulation 35(5)(a) of the Uncertificated Securities
Regulations 2001.

4 This notice is sent for information only to holders of
the preference shares and the debenture stock who are
not entitled to attend or vote at the Meeting.

5 The Chief Executive Officer’s service agreement will be
available for inspection at the Meeting.

6 The attendance at the Meeting of members and their
proxies and representatives is understood by the
Company to confirm their agreement to receive any
communications made at the Meeting.

7 As at 5 March 2008 (being the latest business day prior
to the publication of this Notice), the Company’s issued
ordinary share capital consists of 221,535,017 ordinary
shares of 25p each. On a poll ordinary shareholders
have one vote for every £1 in nominal value (i.e. four
ordinary shares are required for one vote). The
Company does not hold any ordinary shares in treasury.
Therefore the total voting rights in the Company are
221,535,017.

8 The Company proposes to adopt new Articles of
Association. These incorporate amendments to the
current Articles of Association to reflect the provisions of
the Companies Act 2006 (“the 2006 Act”) which came,
or will come, into effect in 2007 and 2008. As the 2006
Act will not be fully in force until October 2009, and so
it is not yet possible to fully reflect the 2006 Act
changes, it is anticipated that shareholders will be asked
to approve further changes to the Articles of Association
at the 2009 AGM.

For a more detailed explanation of these and other
amendments please refer to the Appendix to this
document on pages 58 to 60.

A copy of the current Articles of Association and the
proposed new Articles of Association that reflect these
amendments will be available for inspection during
normal business hours (Saturdays, Sundays and public
holidays excepted) at the offices of Henderson Global
Investors Limited, 4 Broadgate, London EC2M 2DA up
until the close of the Meeting. Copies will also be
available at the AGM venue, Merchant Taylors’ Hall, on
the morning of the Meeting from 11.00 am until the
conclusion of the Meeting.
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9 In order to facilitate voting by corporate representatives
at the Meeting, arrangements will be put in place at the
Meeting so that (i) if a corporate shareholder has
appointed the Chairman of the Meeting as its corporate
representative with instructions to vote on a poll in
accordance with the directions of all of the other
corporate representatives for that shareholder at the
Meeting, then on a poll those corporate representatives
will give voting directions to the Chairman and the
Chairman will vote (or withhold a vote) as corporate
representative in accordance with those directions; and
(ii) if more than one corporate representative for the
same corporate shareholder attends the Meeting but the
corporate shareholder has not appointed the Chairman
of the Meeting as its corporate representative, a
designated corporate representative will be nominated,
from those corporate representatives who attend, who
will vote on a poll and the other corporate
representatives will give voting directions to that
designated corporate representative. Corporate

APPENDIX
Set out below is a summary of the main differences between the
current and the proposed new Articles of Association (the
“Articles”). This summary has been prepared in order to assist
shareholders in understanding the rationale for and substance
of the proposed amendments. The principal changes in the new
Articles proposed to be adopted at the 2008 AGM relate to
electronic communication with shareholders and shareholder
meetings and resolutions, directors’ indemnities, transfers of
shares and directors’ conflicts of interest, reflecting new
provisions of law brought into force under the Companies Act
2006 (the “2006 Act”) which is replacing the Companies Act
1985 (the “1985 Act”) in stages. As well as those changes, the
Articles include some other modernising and clarificatory
amendments. It was considered preferable to adopt new Articles
rather than merely propose amendments as this allows for the
form of Resolution 10 to be more straightforward. The number
identifying each Article, unless otherwise indicated, corresponds
to the numbering used in the proposed new Articles.

• Definitions (Article 1)

Article 1 has been amended to insert definitions for the “1985
Act”, the “2006 Act” and the “Acts” to cater for the fact that the
2006 Act is being brought into force and the 1985 Act is being
repealed in stages between January 2007 and October 2009.
Consequential amendments are made across the Articles to
reflect the inclusions of these new definitions.

The following definitions are inserted to reflect new terms used
under the 2006 Act: “electronic address”, “electronic form” and
“electronic means”.

Amendments have been made to the meaning of “writing” to
clarify that, for the purposes of the Articles, documents and
information sent electronically or placed on a website by the
Company are deemed to be written or in writing.

• Liability of members is limited (Article 4)

Under section 3 of the 2006 Act, a statement that the liability of
members is limited must be included in the company
constitution. This is inserted here in expectation that it will no
longer be in the Memorandum of Association going forward.

• Abolition of Extraordinary Resolutions and Extraordinary
General Meetings

Throughout the Articles, references to a requirement for an
“extraordinary resolution” have been replaced by a “special
resolution” and references to “extraordinary general meeting”
have been replaced by “general meeting”. Both of the previous
terms have ceased to be applicable under the 2006 Act.

• Variation of rights (Article 20)

This Article has been amended to allow for variation of class
rights “in such manner (if any) as may be provided for by those
rights”.

• Call on shares (Article 27); Forfeiture of shares (Article 34)

These Articles have been amended to make it clear that the
14 days notice specified in these Articles must be “clear days”
notice.

• Transfer of shares (Article 41)

Under the 2006 Act, a company must either register a transfer
or give the transferee notice of, and reasons for, its refusal to
register the transfer. Any registration of a transfer or notice of
refusal must be made or given as soon as practicable and in any
event within two months of the date that the transfer is lodged
with the company. This new Article reflects these requirements. 

• Notice of General Meetings (Article 56)

The provisions in the new Articles dealing with the convening
of general meetings, method of notice and the length of notice
required to convene general meetings are in line with the
relevant provisions of the 2006 Act. 

• Quorum (Article 58)

Article 58 has been amended to make it clear that three persons
who are proxies for the same member or representatives of the
same body corporate can constitute a quorum.

• General Meetings (Articles 62, 63, 65, 66 and 67)

Articles 62 and 63 are inserted to allow for security
arrangements at general meetings of the Company.

Articles 65 and 66 are inserted to allow the directors to make
arrangements, in the case of any general meeting, for

shareholders are referred to the guidance issued by the
Institute of Chartered Secretaries and Administrators on
proxies and corporate representatives (www.icsa.org.uk)
for further details of this procedure. The guidance
includes a sample form of representation letter if the
Chairman is being appointed as described in (i) above.

10 A copy of this notice has been sent for information only
to persons who have been nominated by a member to
enjoy information rights under section 146 of the
Companies Act 2006 (a “Nominated Person”). The rights
to appoint a proxy cannot be exercised by a Nominated
Person: they can only be exercised by the member.
However, a Nominated Person may have a right under
an agreement between him and the member by whom
he was nominated to be appointed as a proxy for the
Meeting or to have someone else so appointed. If a
Nominated Person does not have such a right or does
not wish to exercise it, he may have a right under such
an agreement to give instructions to the member as to
the exercise of voting rights. 
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simultaneous attendance and participation (including by way of
video link) at satellite meeting places.

Article 67 is inserted to set out specific reasons why a Chairman
of a general meeting can adjourn the meeting, including, for
example, where necessary for safety reasons and where there is
not enough room for all those wishing to attend. 

• Polls (Articles 70 and 75)

Article 70 has been amended to clarify that a poll may be
demanded before a show of hands, as well as immediately after
the result of a show of hands, and to give the directors the right
to demand a poll as well as the Chairman of the meeting.

Article 75 has been amended to make it clear that notice must
be given of a poll, rather than such notice being at the
discretion of the Chairman.

• Votes of members, proxies and corporate representatives
(Articles 81 and 88)

Under the 2006 Act, proxies are entitled to vote on a show of
hands as well as on a poll, and members may appoint a proxy
to exercise all or any of their rights to attend, speak and vote at
meetings. Multiple proxies may be appointed provided that
each proxy is appointed to exercise the rights attached to a
different share or shares. The new Articles reflect these new
proxy rights. The 2006 Act also provides for multiple corporate
representatives to be appointed and the Articles therefore refer
to the right to appoint multiple corporate representatives.

• Proxies (Articles 76, 78, 84, 85 and 87)

Articles 76 and 78 have been amended to accommodate the
new 2006 Act wording for multiple proxies.

Article 84 has been inserted to enable the directors to allow an
appointment of proxy to be sent or supplied in electronic form.

Article 85 has been amended to enable the Company to receive
appointments of proxies in electronic form. Additionally, Article
85 has been amended to allow directors to ignore non-working
days when calculating the return period for proxy forms, in
accordance with section 327 of the 2006 Act.

Article 87 has been inserted to clarify that directors may send or
make available proxy appointment forms to shareholders at the
expense of the Company.

Old Articles 83A and 96 in relation to proxy arrangements have
been removed.

• Chairman's casting vote (old Article 81) 

The Chairman will no longer have a casting vote at general
meetings of the Company.

• Alternate directors (Article 92)

Article 92 now clarifies that an alternate director is not entitled
to be paid fees unless the Company so determines by ordinary
resolution.

• Delegation to persons or committees (Article 98)

Article 98 follows a new, simplified approach to delegation,
allowing directors to delegate to committees as they deem
appropriate. The restrictions on the powers of persons or
committees which were set out in the old Articles have been
removed.

• Directors’ retirement age limit (old Article 103)

The provisions relating to the 70 year age limit for directors in
the 1985 Act were repealed in April 2007. Accordingly, the

Article that dealt with this is no longer necessary and has been
removed.

• Directors’ appointments, interests and conflicts of interests
(Articles 109, 110, 111, 112, 119, 120 and 121)

The 2006 Act sets out directors’ general duties which largely
codify the existing law but with some changes. Under the 2006
Act, from 1 October 2008 a director has a statutory duty to
avoid a situation where he has, or can have, a direct or indirect
interest that conflicts, or possibly may conflict, with the
Company’s interests. The requirement is very broad and could
apply, for example, if a director becomes a director of another
Company or a trustee of another organisation. The 2006 Act
allows directors of public companies to authorise conflicts and
potential conflicts where appropriate, if the Articles contain a
provision to this effect. The 2006 Act also allows the Articles to
contain other provisions for dealing with directors’ conflicts of
interests to avoid a breach of duty.

Article 109 allows directors to be interested in transactions and
to be an officer of or employed by or interested in a body
corporate in which the Company is interested. It has been
amended so that it confirms that such interests, offices or
employment will not infringe the conflicts duty as codified in
the 2006 Act.

Article 110 (1) gives the directors authority to approve conflict
situations including other directorships held by the Company’s
directors and include other provisions to allow conflicts of
interest to be dealt with in a similar way to the current position.
There are safeguards that will apply when directors decide
whether to authorise a conflict or potential conflict. First, only
directors who have no interest in the matter being considered
will be able to take the relevant decision and, secondly, in
taking the decision the directors must act in a way they
consider, in good faith, will be most likely to promote the
Company’s success. The directors will be able to impose limits
or conditions when giving authorisation if they think this is
appropriate.

Article 110 (2) contains provisions relating to confidential
information, attendance at Board meetings and availability of
Board papers to protect a director from being in breach of duty
if a conflict of interest or potential conflict of interest arises.
These provisions will only apply where the position giving rise
to the potential conflict has previously been authorised by the
directors.

It is the Board’s intention to report annually on the Company’s
procedures for ensuring that the Board’s powers of authorisation
of conflicts are operated effectively and that the procedures
have been followed.

Article 112 is inserted to allow the directors to provide benefits
for any director or former director, and for any member of his
family.

Article 119 (1) is amended to allow a further exception where a
director shall be able to vote on a matter in which he is
interested. This is a specific exception in respect of retirement
benefits schemes.

Article 120 is inserted to clarify that a director shall not be
counted in the quorum in relation to a resolution on which he
or she is not entitled to vote.
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Article 121 is inserted to allow the Company by ordinary
resolution to suspend the provisions of the Articles which
restrict the directors from voting.

The old Article 125 which set out that certain interests of a
director’s connected persons were interests of the director has
been deleted. There is no requirement in the 2006 Act to
include such a provision and the 2006 Act contains a much
wider definition of “connected person” of a director. The
director and the Company must still take a view each time a
matter is being considered as to whether the interests of the
director’s connected persons mean that the director should be
treated as interested for the purposes of this Article.

• Proceedings of the Board of directors (Article 113)

Article 113 (4) has been inserted to allow for Board meetings to
be held by conference telephone or other method of
communication equipment. 

• Notice of Board meetings (Article 113)

Article 113 (2) and (3) have been amended to make it clear that
notice of a Board meeting may be given personally, by
telephone, in hard copy or in electronic form. The requirements
for giving notice to directors who are not in the United
Kingdom have also been clarified.

• Minutes (Article 123)

Article 123 contains a new provision to the effect that minutes
must be retained for at least 10 years, reflecting the relevant
provision of the 2006 Act. No minimum retention time was
previously specified.

• Dividends (Article 134)

This Article amends the provisions that will apply to dividends
paid by the Company by an issue of ordinary shares instead of
in cash, as permitted by the 2006 Act and subject to shareholder
approval.

• Capitalisation of profits (Article 135 (2))

Article 135 (2) has been inserted to allow for capitalisation of
profits where the Company has granted options pursuant to an
employee share scheme.

• Sending of notices, documents, information and deemed
delivery (Articles 141 and 146)

Article 141 has been amended to enable the Company to send
or give any notice, document or information to any member in
electronic form. Article 141 (2) sets out the requirements for
when notices are made available on the Company’s website.

Article 146 amends the provisions for when notice is deemed to
be received to include when notice is given by electronic means
or sent by air mail.

In relation to joint holders of shares, Article 141 (3) provides
that the “first named holder” on the register of members of
joint holders of shares will be the person to whom notice is
delivered and deemed to be delivered.

Article 148 has been inserted to allow the Company to stop
delivery of communications to a member if documents have
been returned undelivered on three occasions.

Article 149 has been inserted to deal with validation of
documents in electronic form by members where required by
the Articles.

• Indemnity (Article 154)

The directors’ indemnity provision has been amended in line
with the 2006 Act to make it clear that the Company may
indemnify a director of an associated company that is the
trustee of an occupational pension scheme, taking advantage of
the qualifying pension scheme indemnity provision in the 2006
Act. Additionally, Article 154 has been updated to allow the
Company to provide indemnity cover for directors of the
Company or directors of an associated company, but not the
managers, officers or auditors as was previously set out. 

• General updating

The new Articles have been prepared on the basis of the 2006
Act and current market practice. As a result, a number of
Articles have been removed from the old Articles which are
deemed to be out of date and redundant. The language used in
the Articles has also been updated generally in line with
modern standards and terminology.
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Location of Merchant Taylors’ Hall

Merchant Taylors’ Hall is located at 30 Threadneedle Street in the City of

London. It is a few minutes’ walk from Liverpool Street Station and from

Bank Underground Station.

Annual General Meeting Venue

The Annual General Meeting will be held on Monday 28 April 2008 at 2.30 pm.
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Explanation of Share Buy-Backs
The impact of the Company buying-in its own shares at a discount

Shareholders have in the past questioned the benefit of buying-

in shares for cancellation.

Below is a hypothetical example of how buying-in shares can

improve the share price of an investment trust. Typically, this

happens in two ways: first, the buy-back, because it takes place at

a discount, increases the NAV (net asset value) per share which,

all other things being equal, leads to a rise in the share price;

and, secondly, because a seller has been removed the discount

often narrows, again leading to a rise in the share price.

Take an investment trust (ABC) whose shares are priced at 320p

but which has a NAV per share of 400p. There are 100 shares in

the company.

NAV per share of ABC Investment Trust = 400p

Price per share of ABC Investment Trust = 320p

Discount of ABC Investment Trust = 20%

Value of ABC Investment Trust assets 100 x 400p = £400

Market value of ABC Investment Trust 100 x 320p = £320

If the company then buys back 15 shares at 320p the following

happens:

Value of buy-back 15 x 320p = £48

As these shares are cancelled the value of the Company’s total

assets falls.

Value of Assets £400 – £48 = £352

But there are now only 85 shares in issue so the NAV per

share is

£352 ÷ 85 = 414p, a rise of 14p (3.5%)

If the discount remains at 20% then the share price will rise to

80% x 414p = 331p, an increase of 11p (3.4%). In practice

because a large seller has been removed, the discount may well

fall. Therefore, the share price may rise even more, benefiting all

the remaining shareholders who will retain exactly the same

number of shares.

Historical Record
Net asset Market price Net revenue Earnings Dividends 
value per Share price per ordinary after per ordinary per ordinary
ordinary share discount share taxation share share

Year end in pence(b) %(b) in pence in £’000 in pence in pence

31 December 1997 374.0 14.6 319.5 30,458 8.09 7.00

31 December 1998 423.9 13.4 367.0 30,317 8.06 7.40

31 December 1999 560.7 14.8 477.5 28,272 7.54 7.60

31 December 2000 521.5 8.3 478.0 32,541(c) 8.95(c) 7.75

31 December 2001 429.3 8.9 391.0 29,634 8.40 7.95

31 December 2002 307.6 15.0 261.5 31,445 8.92(d) 8.10

31 December 2003 358.2 15.4 303.0 31,362 8.98 8.30

31 December 2004 390.2(a) 15.0 331.5 29,330(a) 8.63(a) 8.60

31 December 2005 469.5(a) 11.8 414.0 28,002(a) 8.96(a) 8.80

31 December 2006 517.1 12.1 454.5 27,565 10.24 9.20

31 December 2007 545.7 12.3 478.5 27,137 11.08 9.90

(a) The figure for 2005 has been calculated in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRSs”) as adopted by the European Union and the figure for 2004 has been

restated in accordance with IFRS. The figures for the earlier years have not been restated.

(b) The net asset value per ordinary share is calculated by deducting from the total assets less current liabilities of the Group the fixed borrowings at their par (not their market) values.

The share price discount shown reflects this calculation.

(c) With effect from 1 January 2001, 75% of finance costs and management fees have been charged to capital. The 2000 figures were restated to reflect this change of accounting

policy.

(d) With effect from 1 January 2002, tax relief has been allocated as described in note 1(f) on page 40.
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Marketing Review

Witan...

0800 082 81 80 www.witan.com quoting ref. WK0407C

wisdom

If you’re looking for people who can
consistently deliver results, you’ll find

all our managers qualify. 

Please remember, past performance is not a guide to future performance, and the value of your shares and the income from them can rise and fall, so you may not get back the amount originally invested. Issued and approved by
Witan Investment Services Limited. Witan Investment Services Limited is registered in England no. 5272533 of 4 Broadgate, London EC2M 2DA. Witan Investment Services Limited provides investment products and services
and is authorised and regulated by the Financial Services Authority. Calls may be recorded for our mutual protection and to improve customer service. 

James BuddenWitan’s marketing programme is a cumulative process designed to enhance the

worth of its shareholders’ investments. The activity stimulates and sustains

demand for Witan shares. This in turn provides a level of liquidity which boosts

the share price and allows shareholders to purchase and sell shares at a price

accurately reflecting the performance and rating of the Trust. The presence of

liquidity in investment trust shares is increasingly important in an environment

where demand can drop, discounts slip and price spreads widen.

During 2007 Witan’s subsidiary, Witan Investment Services Limited, launched its

Witan Wealthbuilder platform providing savings plans (PEPs, ISAs, Shareplan and

Jump schemes) to the retail investor. This platform allows online dealing and

hosts over 30,000 investors saving some £210 million in the Witan and Witan

Pacific schemes. The revenues from Witan Wealthbuilder contributed healthily to

the profitability of Witan Investment Services during 2007. This income is a

tangible measure of the worth of Witan’s marketing effort as each plan sold

makes a profit for Witan and its shareholders. This is unusual in an industry

where normally trusts and fund management companies are obliged to subsidise

savings plan investors.

Jump the savings plan for children had a particularly successful year in 2007 in

two ways. In terms of demand Jump attracted 20% more investment during 2007

than it did in 2006. Furthermore, it also collected three top prizes at the Money

Marketing Financial Services Awards, including Campaign of the Year for its wry

take on the trials of parenthood. Witan will look to build on its savings for

children franchise during 2008 by launching a Jump Child Trust Fund product to

complement the current offering. 

The promotion of saving schemes in order to stimulate demand for Witan shares

is but one half of Witan’s marketing programme. The other relates to Witan’s

activity, aimed at encouraging investment in the Trust from investment IFAs and

discretionary wealth managers. In this marketplace Witan’s marketing

communications stress the benefits of its multi-managed investment approach.

Witan is seeking to position itself both inside and outside of the investment

trust sector, comparing itself to popular multi-managed propositions in the

open ended fund area as well as in the immediate peer group. As a multi-

manager Witan has distinct advantages over the ubiquitous fund of funds

approach. It provides access to a group of experienced managers who are

normally inaccessible to the retail investor and it does this for less than 0.60%

in total expense ratio terms. As the average global growth unit trust has a total

expense ratio of 1.63% (source: IMA) this is a powerful message and one worth

persevering with during 2008 and beyond.

2008

Witan’s marketing objectives continue to be to promote awareness of the Trust

and to stimulate demand for its shares. To this end, Witan employs a mix

of activity, including advertising, direct mail, public and investor relations,

e-commerce and sponsorship. This approach is tailored to three key target

markets, namely the private investor, the investment IFA and the discretionary

wealth manager. Witan’s strategy may be summarised as follows:

Advertising: eliciting response across a range of marketing consumer finance

titles, national personal finance supplements and trade publications.

Direct Mail: conversion of response into investment rather than speculative mail

shots; communicating of product offers to investors.

Public and Investor Relations: ongoing journalist contact programme and the

provision of Trust information across the shareholder base.
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E-Commerce: product distribution and information made

available on www.witan.com and www.jumpsavings.com

Sponsorship: building brand awareness for Witan and Jump.

Witan is principal sponsor of Chemmy Alcott (Britain’s number

one female skier), in addition to enjoying sponsorship

arrangements with British Eventing Young Rider team, the RHS

and Tommy’s the Baby Charity.

During 2008, the Board will use key performance indicators to

measure the success of Witan’s marketing strategy. Whilst the

application of the marketing mix will be creative and innovative,

emphasis will be placed on ensuring cost effective responses

across all activities. The marketing budget is fixed annually and

expenditure is kept under close review. It is anticipated that the

budget for 2008 will mirror that of 2007.

How to Invest

There are a variety of ways to invest in Witan Investment Trust plc.

Naturally Witan’s shares can be traded through any UK stockbroker.

However, Witan is also available for investment through the Witan

Wealthbuilder savings platform managed by Witan Investment

Services. Witan Wealthbuilder offers a variety of different savings

wrappers which carry the benefits of income reinvestment, regular

saving and tax efficient investment. These saving schemes may be

purchased online, by telephone or through the post. Online

dealing is fixed at £15 per trade while telephone and postal

business is charged at 1% per deal (subject to a minimum of £1.25). 

■ The Share Plan is a straightforward savings scheme with

minimum lump sum investment from £500 and/or regular

saving from £50 per month or quarter. 

■ The ISA enables investors to save tax efficiently up to a limit

of £7,000 per annum (£7,200 from 6 April 2008). Minimum

lump sum investment is £2,000 with regular savings from

£50 per month.

■ The Transfer ISA allows investors to transfer all or any

number of their existing ISA holdings to Witan

Wealthbuilder. The investments retain their tax free status

during and after transfer.

■ Jump the savings plan for children buys shares in Witan

Investment Trust plc. Jump gives parents, grandparents and

other adults the chance to save effectively for children over

the long term. Minimum lump-sum investment is set at

£100 and regular contributions can be made from as little as

£25 a month or quarter. A Jump Child Trust Fund will be

available during 2008. Please visit www.jumpsavings.com

for more information and application forms.

Further information on all products is available by calling 0800

082 8180 or online via www.witan.com. If you would prefer to

write to request further information the address is:

Witan Wealthbuilder

PO Box 4605, Worthing, West Sussex, BN99 6QY

Investors are reminded that the value of investments and the

income from them may go down as well as up and investors may

not get back the amount originally invested. Tax benefits may

change if the law changes and their value will depend upon

individual circumstances.

Issued and approved by Witan Investment Services. Witan

Investment Services Limited (of 4 Broadgate, London EC2M 2DA)

is authorised and regulated by the Financial Services Authority to

provide investment products and services.

We may record telephone calls for our mutual protection and to

improve customer service.

The cost of training a parent is quite high,
don’t you find?

Sore throat, from bellowing for
a bit of service.

Tired arms, from hurling dreary carrot sticks.

Aching jaw, from spitting those
hideous dummies.

And numb bum, from not budging
without the buggy.

But now, I’m delighted to say,
it’s payback time.

The little dears have started a savings fund,
with my name on it. So a few years down

the line, they can settle their enormous
debt to me. Ah, bless.

Issued and approved by Witan Investment Services Limited. Witan Investment Services Limited is registered in England no. 5272533 of 4 Broadgate, London EC2M 2DA. Witan
Investment Services Limited provides investment products and services and is authorised and regulated by the Financial Services Authority. Calls may be recorded for our mutual
protection and to improve customer service.

It costs to be a parent. And here’s where you start paying. The Jump savings fund could be just
the help you’re looking for. A small sum, put away regularly every month, could give your child
just the start in life they need. Call us now for an information pack, or visit our website. And
prepare for when the bills get really grown up. Please remember, past performance is not a guide
to future performance, and the value of your shares and the income from them can rise and fall,
so you may not get back the amount originally invested.

It’s payback time.

Savings Plan
0800 011 2015 www.jumpsavings.com

Ref 2863
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Shareholder Information

Points of Contact
If you have any questions or need more information
concerning Witan, you may contact us in the following ways:

Freephone: Website:
0800 082 8180 www.witan.com

Post:
For Witan Wealthbuilder (and Jump) queries:
Witan Wealthbuilder
PO Box 4605
Worthing
West Sussex BN99 6QY

Points of Reference
You can follow the progress of your savings through the
newspapers. Witan’s share price appears daily in the national
press stock exchange listings under ‘Investment Trusts’ or
‘Investment Companies’.

The London Stock Exchange Daily Official List (SEDOL) code is
0974406.

Dividend
A second interim dividend of 5.8p per share has been declared,
payable on 3 April 2008. The record date for the dividend will
be 14 March 2008 and the ex-dividend date for the dividend
will be 12 March 2008 (see pages 5 and 21).

Nominee Share Code
Where notification has been received in advance, Witan 
will provide the operators of nominee accounts with copies of
shareholder communications for distribution to their
customers. Nominee investors may attend general meetings
and speak at them when invited to do so by the Chairman.

Capital Gains Tax
The calculation of the tax on chargeable gains will depend on
your personal circumstances. If you are in any doubt about
your personal tax position, you are recommended to contact
your professional adviser.

Disability Act
Copies of this annual report and other documents issued by Witan
Investment Trust plc are available from the Company Secretary. If
needed, copies can be made available in a variety of formats,
including Braille, audio tape or larger type as appropriate.

You can contact our Registrar, Computershare Investor 
Services PLC, which has installed textphones to allow speech
and hearing impaired people who have their own telephone to
contact them directly, without the need for an intermediate
operator, by dialling 0870 702 0005. Specially trained operators
are available during normal business hours to answer queries
via this service.

Alternatively, if you prefer to go through a ‘typetalk’ operator
(provided by The Royal National Institute for Deaf People), you
should dial 18001 followed by the number you wish to dial.

Shareholder Analysis at 31 December 2007

%

Retail investors and nominees 70

Insurance companies 22

Other institutions 6

Pension funds 2

TOTAL 100

Witan Wealthbuilder 17.52%

Axa Investment Managers 15.78%

Legal & General Investment Management 5.28%

Cazenove Capital Management 4.88%

Henderson Global Investors 4.52%

Alliance Trust Savings 3.60%

Registered Office
4 Broadgate 
London
EC2M 2DA
Telephone: 020 7638 5757

Registrar
Computershare Investor 
Services PLC

The Pavilions
Bridgwater Road
Bristol BS99 6ZZ
Telephone: 0870 707 1408

Auditors
Deloitte & Touche LLP
Hill House
1 Little New Street
London EC4A 4TR

Solicitors
Herbert Smith LLP
Exchange House
Primrose Street
London EC2A 2HS

Stockbroker
JPMorgan Cazenove Limited
20 Moorgate
London EC2R 6DA

New Zealand Registrar
Computershare Investor Services Limited
PO Box 92119
Auckland 1020
New Zealand
Telephone (New Zealand) (64) 09 488 8777

New Zealand Stockbrokers
Rose Capital Management Limited
PO Box 1630
Queenstown 9197
New Zealand



Witan Investment Trust plc is the principal sponsor of Chemmy Alcott. Miss Alcott is Britain’s number one female skier and competes

successfully at the highest level. Witan’s current arrangement supports Miss Alcott up to and including the Winter Olympic Games in

Canada in 2010 where she will be hoping to improve on her 11th place in the Downhill at Sestriere in 2006. For more information

please visit www.chemmyalcott.com.
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